VOLUME 6 | ISSUE 1 | 2024

ISSN 2642-3669

Adult Literacy Education

The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy



Adult Literacy Education:

The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy

Adult Literacy Education is published three a year by by ProLiteracy in partnership with Rutgers University.

CO-EDITORS:

Alisa Belzer Rutgers University

Amy D. Rose Northern Illinois University

Heather A. Brown St. Cloud State University

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT:

Xenia M. Cox Rutgers University

BOOK REVIEW EDITOR

Daphne Greenberg Georgia State University

RESOURCE REVIEW EDITOR

Susan Finn Miller LLIU13 Community Education

LEVERAGING TECHNOLOGY TO PROMOTE ADULT LEARNING:

Sarah Cacicio

Adult Literacy & Learning Impact Network

STAFF:

Lauren Osowski Project Manager

Cathi Miller Graphic Designer

Manuscripts should be submitted directly to the Journal through the online submission platform which can be found at: https://proliteracy.org/ ALE-Journal. Full details, and author guidelines can be found online.

Copyright Permission: Permission request to photocopy or otherwise reproduce material published in this journal should be submitted to ProLiteracy at ALEJournal@ProLiteracy.org. **Sonya L. Armstrong** Texas State University

Hal Beder Rutgers University (Emeritus)

> **Jim Berger** Georgia College

Sondra Cuban Western Washington University

Sam Duncan UCL Institute of Education, Department of Education, Practice and Society

Aydin Yücesan Durgunoglu University of Minnesota Duluth

Susan Finn Miller LLIU13 Community Education

Elisabeth Gee Arizona State University

Gabrielle Gerhard Seattle Central College & Curriculum Research Group

Lynda Ginsburg Rutgers University (retired)

Daphne Greenberg Georgia State University

Anke Grotlüschen Hamburg University

Allan G. Harbaugh-Schattenkirk Longwood University

Tom Heaney Rutgers University

Bob Hughes Seattle University **Erik Jacobson** Montclair State University

CONSULTING EDITORS:

Anna Kaiper-Marquez Pennsylvania State University

> **Cathy Kozlowicz** Literacy for all, Inc.

Clarena Larrotta Texas State University

Sasha V. Lotas Academy of Hope Adult Public Charter School

Larry G. Martin University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

> J. Ryan Monroe US Peace Corps

Ron Mottern Ashford University

Bill Muth Virginia Commonwealth University

Richard Orem Northern Illinois University

Margaret Becker Patterson Research Allies for Lifelong Learning

> Amy Pickard Indiana University Bloomington

Esther Prins Pennsylvania State University

John Rachal The University of Southern Mississippi (retired)

Stephen Reder Portland State University **David J. Rosen** Newsome Associates

Elizabeth A. Roumell Texas A & M University

Leah Katherine Saal Loyola University MD

John Sabatini IIS/University of Memphis

Steven W. Schmidt East Carolina University

Joni Schwartz CUNY La Guardia Community College

Ellen Scully-Russ The George Washington University

Ralf St. Clair University of Victoria

Norman A. Stahl Northern Illinois University

Karin Sprow Forté Penn State Harrisburg

> Nicole Taylor Spelman College

Lyn Tett Huddersfield University

> Amy Trawick CALLA

Jenifer Vanek World Education

JoAnn Weinberger Center for Literacy (retired)

> **Jeff Zacharakis** Kansas State University

MISSION STATEMENT The journal's mission is to publish research on adult basic and secondary education and

transitions to college and career programs. It informs practitioners, researchers, policy

makers, and funders about best practices in adult literacy, numeracy, and English language

education in publicly funded, community and volunteer-based programs in a wide range of contexts. Each issue will consist of research articles focused on a particular theme plus

other content of interest to readers (e.g., resource reviews, opinion pieces, and debates

and discussions on timely topics of interest to the field).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Research Article

The Roles of Education and Literacy in the Digital Divide Among Middle-Aged Adults: Cross-National Evidence From the United States, Japan, and South Korea
Takashi Yamashita, Giyeon Kim, Chih-Ling Liou, Takatoshi Ando, Anthony R. Bardo, and Darren Liu

Reports from the Field

Using Universal Design for Learning to Design Self-Paced Professional Development Modules for Adult Education Instructors	7
Amanda Bastoni Tuis Pérez and Cassandra Sell	/
Reinventing a Basic Literacy Program	3
Jessica Tomkins	

Forum: The Power of Partnership

Introduction
David J. Rosen
Digital Skills Partnerships: Philadelphia Office of Children and Families, Adult Education Division 30
Anne Pyzocha and Sylvia Boateng
Adult Literacy Ecosystem Partnerships Beyond the Workforce
Jacqueline Aguilera and Federico Salas-Isnardi
Providing English Language Classes Through Partnership 38
Kathy Harris
Conclusion
David J. Rosen

Book Review

Teaching and Learning about Family Literacy and Family Literacy Programs	44
Reviewed by Jennifer Martinez	

Resource Review

Virginia Adult Learning Resource Center's Social and Emotional Learning for Adult	
Multilingual Learners Online Toolkit 46	
Reviewed by Darlene Fahrenkrug	

Research Digest

Why is Morphological Knowledge and Instruction Important for Adult Education Learners? 48 Elizabeth L. Tighe and Gal Kaldes

Technology and Adult Learning

Improving Reading Skills for Adult Learners with Dyslexia in Incarcerated Settings with	
The Noah Text [®] -New Century Program	54
Sarah Cacicio	

Research Article

The Roles of Education and Literacy in the Digital Divide Among Middle-Aged Adults: Cross-National Evidence from the United States, Japan, and South Korea

Takashi Yamashita, University of Maryland, Baltimore County Giyeon Kim, Chung-Ang University Chih-Ling Liou, Kent State University Takatoshi Ando, Yokohama National University Anthony R. Bardo, University of Kentucky Darren Liu, West Virginia University

Abstract

Internationally representative data of middle-aged adults 45 - 65 years old [n(United States) = 2,150; n(Japan) = 2,318; n(South Korea) = 2,800] from the 2012 Program for International Assessment of Adult Competencies were analyzed to examine the roles of education and literacy in relation to the digital divide. Results from survey-weighted binary logistic regressions showed that both educational attainment and literacy were positively associated with all four measures of information and communication technology (use of the computer, email, online information and transaction) use in all three countries. The middle-aged adults in the United States benefited more from the educational attainment than those in Japan, in terms of email and online information use. The middle-aged adults with lower education and basic skills (i.e., literacy) may benefit from the educational intervention and additional information and communication technology training, and in turn, improve the digital divide in later life, regardless of differences in culture and economy.

Keywords: International; education; information technology; East Asian countries

Disproportionate access to information and communication technology (ICT) by sub-populations such as older adults and adults with lower socioeconomic status, referenced as the digital divide, was a significant concern of economically developed nations in the late 20th and early 21st century (Light, 2001). While the overall patterns of the digital divide have been documented, a large amount of heterogeneity in both ICT use and skill levels remains among adult populations (Ono & Zavodny, 2007). Considering the importance of ICT use to help prevent socioeconomic and health disadvantages in later life (Pruchno, 2019), this study focuses on middle-aged adults.

The present study was framed by two theories: resources and appropriation theory (van Dijk, 2013) and diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003). The first posits that ICT use is largely determined by a collection of personal and positional characteristics, and the latter emphasizes a need to examine these characteristics from a life course perspective. Personal and positional characteristics include sociodemographic factors that reflect one's rank within a hierarchical distribution of resources (e.g., income, time, motivation, human capital) over the life course. For example, those with higher income, more available time, and greater motivation (both to learn and use ICT) are likely to use ICT more. In turn, one's rank can be understood to either limit or enhance ICT use (van Dijk, 2017).

ICT use is further determined by one's digital literacy (van Dijk, 2013). ICT disparities reflect a balance between opportunity and risk exposure in earlier life stages, and this balance differs across age groups (Ferraro et al., 2009). In view of the diffusion of innovation theory (Rogers, 2003), middle-aged adults whose formative years occurred prior to the 1990s, when ICT infrastructure was limited, may have lacked opportunity to develop strong digital literacy skills. Moreover, middle-aged adults may also have diverse perceptions and attitudes towards ICT (Backonja et al., 2014). These issues point to a need to develop a greater understanding of the digital divide among middle-age adults (Morris, 2007).

Aside from age, other important personal characteristics include sex and health. Men typically have greater ICT access and usage (Friemel, 2016; Kim et al., 2016), as do individuals who are healthy and/or non-disabled (Fang et al., 2018). Key positional characteristics include educational attainment, employment status, income, and social network. Education (Elena-Bucea et al., 2020; Fang et al., 2018; van Dijk, 2012), employment (Paggi & Jopp, 2015; Tikkanen, 2017), income (Fang et al., 2018; Friemel, 2016), and social support are all positively associated with greater ICT access and usage (Hong & Cho, 2016; Kim et al., 2016; van Dijk, 2012). Among these key indicators, educational attainment is by far the strongest predictor.

Understanding the link between ICT use and education among middle-aged adults is complicated by two issues: First, formal education is typically completed by one's late 20s (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018), so there is often a gap between formal education and current literacy skills that reflect a foundation for digital literacy and ICT use (van Dijk, 2017). Second, education is an important determinant of ICT use regardless of age, but efficacy is particularly important by the time one reaches middle to later life. (van Dijk, 2012). Therefore, middleaged adults with low literacy may have difficulty using ICT (Yamashita et al., 2019), but whether the digital divide differs by basic literacy skills remains unknown. Relatedly, it should be noted that this study does not address specific pathways between education, literacy, and ICT use. However, the education-ICT use relationship could be explained by multiple pathways, including personal and positional characteristics. For example, education-related outcomes, such as literacy proficiency and income, are the indicators of economic access to digital devices and the Internet across adult life stages.

A Cross-Cultural View: Gaps in the Literature

The digital divide is understood to differ substantially across countries due to cross-national variation in economic conditions, digital infrastructure, and collective attitudes toward ICT (Drori & Jang, 2003). Yet, nationally representative cross-national research in terms of individual-level ICT use is scare (Ono & Zavodny, 2007), and little is known about whether personal and positional determinants of ICT use differ cross-nationally. The present study focuses on the United States, Japan, and South Korea, which includes a Western country with an individualistic-oriented culture and Eastern countries with a group-oriented culture (i.e., Confucianism). All three nations have high technology usage rates (e.g., internet usage rate: Untied States = 85%, Japan = 91%, and South Korea = 96%) (World Bank, 2019). These differences and similarities provide useful contexts from which to exam cross-national differences in the importance of education and literacy for ICT use.

The current study contributes to the existing literature by providing cross-national evidence surrounding the links between both education and literacy with ICT use at the individual level, while taking the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics into account. Several international reports examined the bivariate relationships between literacy and ICT use across nations but detailed examinations with the statistical control have not been conducted to date (Grotlüschen et al., 2016). Moreover, while the links between education and ICT use are wellestablished (van Dijk, 2012), at least within a single-nation context, the role of adult literacy skills has not been extensively studied. This is important because literacy skills are a possible underlying mechanism that links ICT use with educational attainment (van Dijk, 2013). Additionally, the current study adds much needed refinement to the measurement of both ICT use and literacy by focusing

on specific ICT use types (i.e., general, email, online information, and online transaction) and a detailed measure of literacy (De Haan, 2004). In particular, population-level large scale assessments of adult literacy data have not been fully utilized in the digital divide research. Finally, whether theoretical understandings of the digital divide (van Dijk, 2013) extend to middle-aged adults, in general, and in a specific cross-cultural context, remains an open question.

Research Questions

The present study focuses on establishing associations of both education and literacy skills with ICT use among middle-aged adults in three developed, but culturally distinct, nations, and whether these associations differ by ICT use type (e.g., general, email, information, and transaction).

- Are education and literacy associated with ICT use among middle-aged adults in the United States, Japan, and South Korea?
- 2. Are associations of education and literacy with ICT use among middle-aged adults moderated by country?

It is hypothesized that education and literacy are independently and positively associated with ICT use across all three nations. However, it is expected that the impact of education and literacy on ICT use differs by type and by country.

Methods

Data

Data were derived from the 2012 Program for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) public use file (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD], 2016), which includes respondents between 16 and 65 years old in 24 countries. PIAAC used a computer-adaptive assessment of basic skills, which provided 10 sets of plausible values for literacy skills. Skill assessments were conducted in each country's primary language (OECD, 2019). The sample was limited to those between 45 and 65-years old (Total n = 7,268; United States n = 2,150; Japan n = 2,318; South Korea n = 2,800). Appropriate sampling and replicate weights were used to adjust for non-response bias and the complex sampling design, respectively.

Measures

Dependent Variables

ICT use was measured by a set of four dichotomous indicators. *Computer User* indicates whether a respondent uses a desktop, laptop, or hand-held electronic device in everyday life. Those who answered no were excluded by the PIAAC from the following usage questions: *Email User* denotes whether a respondent uses email at least once a month. *Online Information User* indicates whether a respondent uses the internet for information seeking at least once a month. *Online Transaction User* indicates that a respondent uses the internet for purchasing, selling, and/ or banking at least once a month.

Independent Variables

Educational Attainment indicates whether a respondent has at least a bachelor's degree. PIAAC provides more detailed educational attainment classifications but for the purpose of this study, cross-national comparability and the interpretability of results, the dichotomous variable (i.e., o = less than a bachelor's degree vs. 1 =bachelor's degree or higher) was created. Literacy Skills were based on a set of 10 plausible values with scores that range between 1 (low) and 500 (high). On a related note, this study adopted literacy rather than other available PIAAC skill measures such as numeracy and problem-solving skills in technology-rich environment, because literacy is the foundational skills, which are likely comparable across countries. Other available measures may not be cross-nationally comparable, due to, for example, the varying focuses of education systems and cultural differences (e.g., mathematics and computer science education).

Covariates

Models were adjusted for personal, positional, and resource factors. Personal factors: *Age* was recorded in 5-year increments (45-49; 50-54; 55-59; and 60-65 years old) because a continuous age measure was not available in the U.S. public use file. *Sex* included options for female or male. *Self-Rated Health* was measured on a five-point scale from poor to excellent. Positional factors: *Paid Work* indicates whether a respondent had a paid job in the last 12 months. *Parents' Education* was dichotomized to indicate whether at least one parent/guardian had at least a post-secondary degree. *Living with a Spouse/ Partner* is a dichotomous indicator (o = no, 1 = yes). *Child* indicates whether a respondent had at least one child in their household. Resource factors: *Income* was measured in terms of monthly earnings and was recorded in deciles. In PIAAC, any respondent who reported no paid work in the past twelve months was assumed to have no income. As such, they were assigned to the lowest decile to be included in this study. *Country* was denoted by three dichotomous indicators (i.e., United States, Japan, or South Korea).

Analytic Approach

A weighted descriptive summary was computed for the overall analytic sample and each respective country, which was accompanied by bivariate tests to assess crude unadjusted differences. First, weighted binary logistic regression models without the covariates were used to establish bivariate relationships between each dependent variable and both independent variables, respectively. Subsequently, moderator functions (Muthén et al., 2016) were included for both independent variables by country to account for the cross-national design. Finally, fully adjusted and weighted models with the covariates were constructed to address both research questions. Statistical significance was evaluated at the 0.05 level. All programs were generated using the IDB analyzer version 4.0 (IEA, 2016) and executed in SAS version 9.4.

Sensitivity Analysis

Alternative models that included different measurement strategies for the independent variables and different combinations of covariates were examined to establish robustness of findings. Multicollinearity was assessed by the variation inflation factor (VIF > 4.0) (Allison, 1999), and model quality was evaluated with the area under the receiver-operating characteristics (ROC) curve (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2013). Sampling weights (SPFWTo) and replicate weights (SPFWT1-80) with the jackknife2 variance estimation technique were applied in all models (OECD, 2016). Per the PIAAC (2016) technical report, the number of recommended replications for the United States was increased by 35 so that the three countries were comparable in the weighted analysis.

Results

Weighted descriptive summaries are shown in Table 1. South Koreans (83%) were more likely to be computer users compared to American (80%) and Japanese (78%) adults. However, among computer users, Americans were more likely to be email users, and online information users, compared to South Korean or Japanese adults. While there is no significant difference in the online transaction users between Americans and South Koreans, South Koreans were more likely to be online transaction users than Japanese. Americans were more likely to have at least bachelor's degree (29%) compared to Japanese (23%) and South Korean (14%) adults. The average literacy skills score was higher in Japan (284) compared to the United States (264) and South Korea (253).

Regression results are displayed in Tables 2 through 5. Model 1 results show that educational attainment and literacy skills are both associated with ICT use across all three nations, and this is relatively consistent across ICT usage type. Middle-aged adults with at least a bachelor's degree had a greater likelihood of using a computer in everyday life [Odds-ratio (OR) = 2.29, p < 0.05]. This educational pattern was consistent across all examined ICT types: email (OR = 5.69, p < 0.05), online information (OR = 3.54, p < 0.05), and online transaction (OR = 1.45, p < 0.05)0.05), while the differences in the estimated ORs between Japan and the United States were detected for email and online information (see the next section for more details). Similarly, higher literacy skills were consistently associated with greater odds of using computers, email, online information, and online transaction. A one unit increase in literacy skills is associated with a 0.01 increase in the odds of ICT usage. Given that literacy skills were measured on a 500-point scale, seemingly small, estimated odds ratio reflects a substantial effect. For example, we expect the odds ratio to be about 1.5 when the literacy proficiency improved by 50 points. In comparison to the findings about education (e.g., OR = 1.45 in the online transaction), potential effects of literacy seem equivalent, if not larger.

In regard to research question 2, the moderator functions in Model 2b and Model 2c show that the association between ICT use and education partially differs crossnationally only between Japan and the United States, and that the association between ICT and literacy skills is comparable across all three nations. Specifically, higher education appears to be a weaker determinant of email (OR = 0.20, p < 0.05) and online information (OR = 0.46, p < 0.05) in Japan compared to the United States. In other words, the positive effects of education on email and online information use were lower among middle-aged Japanese adults than those in the United States.

Results were robust. There was no sign of multicollinearity (VIF = 1.17 – 2.18 < 4.0), and all fully adjusted models demonstrated acceptable predictive accuracy (i.e., ROC curve scores between 0.70 and 0.78) Additionally, a series of alternative models (e.g., models with/out race/ ethnicity and immigrants in the U.S. data) was examined to investigate potential sources of omitted variable bias, but these models produced substantively consistent results. While race/ethnicity and immigrant status are relevant in the U.S. sample, their inclusion makes cross-national comparison less feasible.

Discussion

Education and literacy skills were both associated with all four types of ICT use (i.e., general, email, online information, and online transaction) among middle-aged adults, and in a positive direction. These findings align with the proposed theoretical framework (van Dijk, 2013), and they add to previous research that has typically focused on adult populations (Fang et al., 2018; Hong & Cho, 2016; Morris, 2007). Education likely determines ICT exposure and access in earlier stages of life. The timing of formal education completion may differentiate initial adaptation of ICT innovations (e.g., see the diffusion of innovation theory, Rogers, 2003), which has implications for usage in subsequent life stages. Moreover, educational attainment is closely linked to socioeconomic status (i.e., resource factor), which largely determines access to ICT (Elena-Bucea et al., 2020; van Dijk, 2017). The central role of education for ICT use was further substantiated by the literacy skills findings.

Literacy skills were consistently associated with ICT use. Basic literacy skills are the foundation for more complex skill sets like digital literacy and health literacy (van Dijk, 2017; Yamashita et al., 2019). Present findings add to the education-related literature by showing that ICT use is independently associated with literacy skills net of education among middle-aged adults. Given close links between literacy skills and education, literacy could have explained the association between education and ICT use. Those with greater education and literacy likely have ICT-related advantages (e.g., familiarity, confidence, and interest in ICT) (van Dijk, 2012), whereas those with relatively lower education and literacy likely face barriers to ICT use (e.g., access to, experience with, and necessary skills to use ICT).

In regard to cross-national differences, computer use was more prevalent among middle-aged South Koreans compared to American or Japanese adults. Among middleaged computer users, Americans were more likely to engage in email, online information, and online transaction than Japanese adults. The differences between Americans and South Koreans in the engagement in email and online information were identified, while no statistical difference was observed in the online transaction. These crossnational differences were not observed in the regression results, which suggests that they are likely due to crossnational differences in the prevalence of education and literacy, as well as socioeconomic and cultural factors (Drori & Jang, 2003; Ono & Zavodny, 2007; Rogers, 2003). In addition, in view of the resources and appropriation theory, and diffusion of innovation theory, the differing ICU use could have been impacted by the sociohistorical context to the cohort of middle-aged adults, and timing of ICT diffusion in each country (Rogers, 2003; van Dijk, 2013).

Associations of education and literacy with ICT use were largely comparable across the United States, Japan, and South Korea, with a couple exceptions. Education was a stronger determinant of both email and online information use among Americans compared to Japanese middle-aged adults. These findings may speak toward cross-national differences in education systems. For example, the primary and secondary Japanese systems focus on traditional education and the U.S. curriculum is relatively more applied (Wieczorek, 2008), which may result in the differences in developing literacy skills and use of ICT (Liu, 2018). Disentangling these educationrelated findings with respect to the education system, infrastructure and culture warrant future attention.

Significant covariates such as income and self-rated health may help refine the interpretation of the computer use-related findings in future research. By the same token, the statistical significance of sex and paid work

in relation to the email use need further exploration to study gender, types of job (e.g., technology-intensive) and relevant socioeconomic differences in the common communication method (Tikkanen, 2017). Moreover, the roles of parents' education and age in relation to online information use and online transaction use should be investigated more to contextualize the findings from this study when more cross-national data become available. Interestingly, Park and Jun (2003) reported that South Korean adults and U.S. adults showed different online transaction behaviors in terms of risk tolerance and time spent. Presumably, parent's educational attainment and age might have been linked with the cultural differences (i.e., perceived risk and online shopping). Yet, more future research is needed to empirically examine the role of parent's education in relation to the digital divide and cultural differences (e.g., individual vs. group-oriented culture) across East Asian and Western nations.

Limitations

The present study sought to establish associations of both education and literacy with ICT use, and thus provided cross-national evidence to help provide robust findings. Future research that includes higher-level constructs and/ or societal-level factors is needed to explore the crossnational differences presented in this study. Also, more in-depth inquiries through qualitative interviews and field observations to refine the interpretations of county-level differences in future research. The PIAAC limited specific ICT use assessments (i.e., email, online information, and online transaction) to self-reported computer users. In addition, specific ICT use measures cannot extend to specific device use (e.g., computer, smartphone, tablet), and as such, the interpretation might have overlooked access to specific digital device. While the application of survey weights was intended to address this issue, some bias due to the over-representation of middle-aged adults who have at least some ICT experience may remain. Finally, omitted variable bias cannot be ruled out.

Strengths and Contributions

Previous research has overwhelmingly focused on general ICT use (De Haan, 2004), and this study examined detailed ICT measures. The present findings are among the first surrounding specific ICT use and literacy skills. Moreover, previous research has largely relied on overly simple measures of literacy, and PIAAC provided refined literacy assessments. This study demonstrated that education and literacy are independent determinants of the digital divide across cultures, which highlights the universal importance of foundational skills. Finally, extant research has almost exclusively focused on older adults (Mitchell et al., 2018), and the current study extends relevant theoretical contexts (Rogers, 2003) to middle-aged adults.

Implications and Conclusion

Investment in malleable and foundational determinants of digital literacy, such as basic literacy skills, may be a fruitful strategy to help close the digital divide. Given that links between technology and aging have become stronger in more recent years (Pruchno, 2019; van Dijk, 2012), it may be advantageous to enhance basic skills in mid-life through adult education (Ferraro et al., 2009). By the same token, such efforts to improve adult literacy may also benefit other life domains, such as health-related issues and social isolation, which are prevalent in later life (Mitchell et al., 2018; Yamashita et al., 2019).

In sum, continuous investment in education, technology, and human capital across the life course is critical for closing the digital divide (Chinn & Fairlie, 2007). It is evident that both basic and digital skills training should be part of such efforts. Private settings and one-onone sessions for skills training are preferred by adult populations (Friemel, 2016). ICT developers should focus their efforts on designing age-friendly and culturally sensitive hardware and applications (Pruchno, 2019). Finally, the promotion of positive images of ICT use among the aging population is needed to encourage engagement (Fang et al., 2018).

References

Allison, P. D. (1999). Multiple regression: A primer. Pine Forge Press.

- Backonja, U., Hall, A. K., & Thielke, S. (2014). Older adults' current and potential uses of information technologies in a changing world: A theoretical perspective. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 80(1), 41-63. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091415015591109
- Chinn, M. D., & Fairlie, R. W. (2007). The determinants of the global digital divide: a cross-country analysis of computer and internet penetration. *Oxford Economic Papers*, *59*(1), 16-44. https://doi.org/10.1093/0ep/gpl024
- De Haan, J. (2004). A multifaceted dynamic model of the digital divide. *It & Society*, *1*(7), 66-88.
- Drori, G. S., & Jang, Y. S. (2003). The global digital divide: A sociological assessment of trends and causes. *Social Science Computer Review*, *21*(2), 144-161. https://doi.org/10.11 77/0894439303021002002
- Elena-Bucea, A., Cruz-Jesus, F., Oliveira, T., & Coelho, P. S. (2020). Assessing the role of age, education, gender and income on the digital divide: Evidence for the European Union. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 23, 1007–1021. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10796-020-10012-9.
- Fang, M. L., Canham, S. L., Battersby, L., Sixsmith, J., Wada, M., & Sixsmith, A. (2018). Exploring privilege in the digital divide: Implications for theory, policy, and practice. *The Gerontologist*, 59(1), e1-e15. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/ gny037
- Ferraro, K. F., Shippee, T. P., & Schafer, M. H. (2009). Cumulative inequality theory for research on aging and the life course.
 In V. L. Bengston, D. Gans, N. M. Pulney, & M. Silverstein (Eds.), *Handbook of theories of aging* (pp. 413-433).
 Springer Publishing Co.
- Friemel, T. N. (2016). The digital divide has grown old: Determinants of a digital divide among seniors. *New Media & Society, 18*(2), 313-331. https://doi. org/10.1177/1461444814538648
- Grotlüschen, A., Mallows, D., Reder, S., & Sabatini, J. (2016). *Adults with low proficiency in literacy and numeracy* (OECD Education Working Papers). https://www.oecd-ilibrary. org/education/adults-with-low-proficiency-in-literacy-ornumeracy_5jmov44bnmnx-en
- Hong, Y. A., & Cho, J. (2016). Has the digital health divide widened? Trends of health-related internet use among older adults from 2003 to 2011. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 72(5), 856-863. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/ gbw100
- Hosmer, D. W. J., & Lemeshow, S. (2013). *Applied logistic regression* (2nd ed., Vol. 398). John Wiley & Sons.

- IEA. (2016). *Help manual for the IDB analyzer* (SAS macros). http://www.iea.nl/data
- Kim, J., Lee, H. Y., Christensen, M. C., & Merighi, J. R. (2016). Technology access and use, and their associations with social engagement among older adults: Do women and men differ? *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 72(5), 836-845. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw123
- Light, J. (2001). Rethinking the digital divide. *Harvard Educational Review*, 71(4), 709-734. https://doi.org/10.17763/ haer.71.4.342x36742j2w4q82
- Liu, H. (2018). Education systems, education reforms, and adult skills in the Survey of Adult Skills (PIAAC) (OECD Education Working Papers). https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/ education-systems-education-reforms-and-adult-skills-inthe-survey-of-adult-skills-piaac_bef85c7d-en
- Mitchell, U. A., Chebli, P. G., Ruggiero, L., & Muramatsu, N. (2018). The digital divide in health-related technology use: The significance of race/ethnicity. *The Gerontologist*, *59*(1), 6-14. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny138
- Morris, A. (2007). E-literacy and the grey digital divide: A review with recommendations. *Journal of Information Literacy*, 1(3), 13-28.
- Muthén, B. O., Muthén, L. K., & Asparouhov, T. (2016). *Regression and mediation analysis using Mplus*. Muthén & Muthén.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *Digest of education statistics: 2018*. Institute of Education Sciences. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d18/index.asp
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2016). *Technical report of the survey of adult skills* (*PIAAC*). http://www.oecd.org/skills/piaac/PIAAC_Technical_ Report_2nd_Edition_Full_Report.pdf
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2019). *The Survey of Adult Skills : Reader's Companion* (OECD Skills Studies). https://doi.org/10.1787/f70238c7-en.
- Ono, H., & Zavodny, M. (2007). Digital inequality: A five country comparison using microdata. *Social Science Research*, 36(3), 1135-1155. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ssresearch.2006.09.001
- Paggi, M. E., & Jopp, D. S. (2015). Outcomes of occupational self-efficacy in older workers. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 80(4), 357-378. https://doi. org/10.1177/0091415015607640
- Park, C., & Jun, J. K. (2003). A cross-cultural comparison of internet buying behavior. *International Marketing Review*, 20(5), 534-553. https://doi.org/10.1108/02651330310498771

- Pruchno, R. (2019). Technology and aging: An evolving partnership. *The Gerontologist*, 59(1), 1-5. https://doi. org/10.1093/geront/gny153
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of Innovations (5th ed.). Free Press.
- Tikkanen, T. (2017). Problem-solving skills, skills needs and participation in lifelong learning in technology-intensive work in the Nordic countries. *Journal of Contemporary Education Studies*, 68(4), 110-128.
- van Dijk, J. A. G. M. (2012). The evolution of the digital divide: The digital divide turns to inequality of skills and usage. *Digital Enlightment Yearbook*, 57-75.
- van Dijk, J. A. G. M. (2013). A theory of the digital divide. In M. Ragnedda & G. W. Muschert (Eds.), *The digital divide: The internet and social inequality in international perspective* (pp. 29-51). Routledge.

- van Dijk, J. A. G. M. (2017). Digital divide: Impact of access. In P. Rössler, C. A. hoffner, & L. Zoonen (Eds.), *The International Encyclopedia of Media Effects* (pp. 1-11). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118783764.wbieme0043
- Wieczorek, C. C. (2008). Comparative analysis of educational systems of American and Japanese schools: Views and visions. *Educational Horizons*, 86(2), 99-111. www.jstor.org/ stable/42923715
- World Bank. (2019). World Bank Open Data. Retrieved May 10 from https://data.worldbank.org/
- Yamashita, T., Bardo, A. R., Cummins, P. A., Millar, R. J., Sahoo, S., & Liu, D. (2019). The roles of education, literacy, and numeracy in need for health information during the second half of adulthood: A moderated mediation analysis. *Journal* of Health Communication, 24(3), 271-283. https://doi.org/10.1 080/10810730.2019.1601303

TABLE 1: Weighted Descriptive Summary by Country

VARIABLES	All (n = 7,268)	USA (n = 2,150)	Japan (n = 2,318)	South Korea (n = 2,800)
	Percentage or mean (S.E.)	Percentage or mean (S.E.)	Percentage or mean (S.E.)	Percentage or mean (S.E.)
ICT use in everyday life				
Computer user	80.03%	80.45%	78.13%	82.55%*†
Email user ^a	82.93%	90.56%	70.08%*	59.77%*†
Online information user ^a	77.45%	84.35%	59.59%*	75.11%*†
Online transaction user ^a	58.47%	68.59%	33.00%*	52.95%†
Personal factors				
Age (5-year age group)			*	†
45-49	25.78%	26.24%	23.48%	28.90%
50-54	25.50%	26.88%	20.73%	29.39%

55-59	22.51%	23.04%	21.41%	22.14%
60-65	26.21%	23.84%	34.38%	19.56%
Sex (female)		47.14%	50.43%	49.77%
Self-rated health (1-5: poor – excellent)	3.13 (0.02)	3.40 (0.03)	2.81 (0.02)*	2.34 (0.02)*†

Positional factors				
Educational attainment (Bachelor's degree or higher)	25.91%	29.16%	22.77%*	14.88%*†
Paid work (yes)	77.57%	77.56%	78.66%	74.87%*†
Parents' education (at least one parent/guardian with a postsecondary education degree)	23.46%	27.41%	23.23%*	8.61%*†
Living with spouse/partner (yes)	84.43%	83.49%	86.28%	84.70%†
Having child/ren in household (yes)	86.07%	85.10%	84.92%*	94.74%†

Resource factors				
Literacy skills (score 0-500)	268.46 (0.85)	264.51 (1.22)	283.82 (1.14)*	252.55 (0.94) †
Income (decile)	4.70 (0.05)	4.87 (0.08)	4.53 (0.08)	4.16 (0.07)* †

* *p* < 0.05 (vs. USA); † *p* < 0.05 (vs. Japan)

Sampling weights and replicate weights were applied. For the bivariate tests, either t-test or chi-square test was used.

a. only computer users were included.

Data source: 2012 PIAAC Public Use File

TABLE 2: Estimated Odds-Ratios for Weighted Binary Logistic Regression of Computer Use on Persona, Positional, and Resource Predictors

EFFECTS	Model 1a Odds ratio (Standard error)	Model 2a Odds ratio (Standard error)
Personal effects		
Age (5-year age group)		0.90 (0.05)*
Sex (female)		0.88 (0.13)
Self-rated health (1-5: poor – excellent)		1.22 (0.07)*

Positional effects					
Educational attainment (Bachelor's degree or higher)	2.67 (0.34)*	2.29 (0.32)*			
Paid work (yes)		0.88 (0.13)			
Parents' education (at least one parent/guardian with a post-secondary education degree)		1.13 (0.18)			
Living with spouse/partner (yes)		1.12 (0.19)			
Having child/ren in household (yes)		0.85 (0.17)			

Resource effects		
Literacy skills (score 0-500)	1.01 (0.01)*	1.01 (0.01)*
Income (decile)		1.05 (0.02)*
Japan (vs. USA)	1.71 (0.77)	2.54 (1.28)
South Korea (vs. USA)	2.25 (1.09)	1.84 (1.01)

Moderation effects		
Education x Japan (vs. USA)	0.89 (0.13)	1.00 (0.17)
Education x South Korea (vs. USA)	0.99 (0.18)	1.00 (0.20)
Literacy x Japan (vs. USA)	1.00 (0.01)	0.99 (0.01)
Literacy x South Korea (vs. USA	1.00 (0.11)	1.00 (0.01)

Model fit index (Area under the ROC curve)	0.75	0.78

TABLE 3: Estimated Odds-Ratios for Weighted Binary Logistic Regression of Email Use on Persona, Positional, and Resource Predictors

EFFECTS	Model 1b Odds ratio (Standard error)	Model 2b Odds ratio (Standard error)
Personal effects		
Age (5-year age group)		0.89 (0.05)*
Sex (female)		0.59 (0.07)*
Self-rated health (1-5: poor – excellent)		1.09 (0.07)

Positional effects		
Educational attainment (Bachelor's degree or higher)	5.30 (2.18)*	5.69 (3.04)*
Paid work (yes)		0.58 (0.11)*
Parents' education (at least one parent/guardian with a post-secondary education degree)		1.84 (0.32)*
Living with spouse/partner (yes)		0.91 (0.14)
Having child/ren in household (yes)		0.81 (0.16)

Resource effects		
Literacy skills (score 0-500)	1.01 (0.01)*	1.01 (0.01)*
Income (decile)		1.06 (0.02)*
Japan (vs. USA)	0.94 (0.79)	1.47 (1.71)
South Korea (vs. USA)	0.62 (0.60)	0.43 (0.48)

Moderation effects		
Education x Japan (vs. USA)	0.23 (0.10)*	0.20 (0.10)*
Education x South Korea (vs. USA)	0.80 (0.33)	0.66 (0.32)
Literacy x Japan (vs. USA)	1.00 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)
Literacy x South Korea (vs. USA	1.00 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)

Model fit index (Area under the ROC curve)	0.73	0.73

TABLE 4: Estimated Odds-Ratios for Weighted Binary Logistic Regression of Online Information Use on Persona, Positional, and Resource Predictors

EFFECTS	Model 1c Odds ratio (Standard error)	Model 2c Odds ratio (Standard error)
Personal effects		
Age (5-year age group)		0.96 (0.06)
Sex (female)		0.82 (0.11)
Self-rated health (1-5: poor – excellent)		1.02 (0.06)

Positional effects		
Educational attainment (Bachelor's degree or higher)	3.38 (0.73)*	3.54 (0.92)*
Paid work (yes)		0.93 (0.15)
Parents' education (at least one parent/guardian with a post-secondary education degree)		1.33 (0.18)*
Living with spouse/partner (yes)		1.17 (0.19)
Having child/ren in household (yes)		0.89 (0.16)

Resource effects		
Literacy skills (score 0-500)	1.01 (0.01)*	1.01 (0.01)*
Income (decile)		1.01 (0.02)
Japan (vs. USA)	0.27 (0.20)	0.37 (0.32)
South Korea (vs. USA)	1.10 (0.99)	0.81 (0.80)

Moderation effects		
Education x Japan (vs. USA)	0.44 (0.11)*	0.46 (0.12)*
Education <i>x</i> South Korea (vs. USA)	0.57 (0.17)	0.51 (0.17)
Literacy x Japan (vs. USA)	1.00 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)
Literacy x South Korea (vs. USA	1.00 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)

Model fit index (Area under the ROC curve)	0.70	0.70

TABLE 5: Estimated Odds-Ratios for Weighted Binary Logistic Regression of Online Transaction Use on Persona, Positional, and Resource Predictors

EFFECTS	Model 1d Odds ratio (Standard error)	Model 2d Odds ratio (Standard error)
Personal effects		
Age (5-year age group)		0.81 (0.04)*
Sex (female)		0.86 (0.11)
Self-rated health (1-5: poor – excellent)		1.06 (0.05)
Positional effects		
Educational attainment (Bachelor's degree or higher)	1.77 (0.28)*	1.45 (0.24)*
Paid work (yes)		1.01 (0.17)
Parents' education (at least one parent/guardian with a post-secondary education degree)		1.57 (0.20)*
Living with spouse/partner (yes)		0.81 (0.14)
Having child/ren in household (yes)		0.97 (0.18)
Resource effects		
Literacy skills (score 0-500)	1.01 (0.01)*	1.01 (0.01)*

Income (decile)		1.01 (0.02)
Japan (vs. USA)	0.65 (0.48)	1.34 (1.16)
South Korea (vs. USA)	1.34 (1.00)	1.45 (0.36)

Moderation effects		
Education x Japan (vs. USA)	0.83 (0.17)	1.05 (0.23)
Education <i>x</i> South Korea (vs. USA)	1.18 (0.25)	1.29 (0.32)
Literacy x Japan (vs. USA)	1.00 (0.01)	0.99 (0.01)
Literacy x South Korea (vs. USA	1.00 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)

Model fit index (Area under the ROC curve)	0.75	0.76

http://doi.org/10.35847/ABastoni.LPerez.CSell.6.1.17

Report from the Field

Using Universal Design for Learning to Design Self-Paced Professional Development Modules for Adult Education Instructors

Amanda Bastoni, Luis Pérez, and Cassandra Sell, CAST

Acknowledgement: This article was developed under contract with the MDB, Inc. with funding from the U.S. Department of Education, Office of Career, Technical, and Adult Education, under Contract No. 91990020C0095. The content and opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent the positions or policies of the U.S. Department of Education, and no official endorsement by the U.S. Department of Education should be inferred.

Abstract

Adult education instructors are as diverse as the students they teach. Their professional backgrounds, training, licenses, and modalities of teaching (online, in person, open vs. closed enrollment, etc.) vary widely, which can make the planning of meaningful, effective professional development challenging. Universal Design for Learning (UDL) is a research-based educational framework developed almost 30 years ago by CAST, a non-profit education research and design organization. Using the UDL framework, CAST has developed self-paced professional learning modules that can be accessed freely through the Literacy Information and Communication System website (<u>https://lincs.ed.gov/</u>). The goal of this article is to argue that two key UDL-based design concepts - accessibility and relevance - can be used to increase the effectiveness of professional development for adult educators.

Keywords: universal design for learning, professional development, adult education instructors

Adult educators vary widely in terms of demographics and experience. Many have a background teaching children. Some have never taught before. The reasons adult education instructors are engaging in professional development (PD) also vary. Some instructors may be completing required training to meet local PD requirements, while others may be trying to increase skills or knowledge in a particular subject area. As we consider how to develop effective PD for adult education instructors, we should begin by asking: Has the PD been designed with the same care we expect adult educators to use when teaching their own adult students?

We believe Universal Design for Learning (UDL), a research-based framework to guide the design of inclusive and engaging learning environments, is the place to start. However, through our research we found that while a majority of adult educators feel positively about UDL and understand the importance of supporting all of the learners in their classroom, they struggle with applying the framework in the adult learning context. This is significant since teacher preparedness has a critical impact on student learning (Cook & Rao, 2018; Murphy, 2021).

To understand how to prepare adult educators to use UDL we need to understand *what* adult educators want to know about teaching and learning and *how* they want or need to learn the information. Through this 2-year collaboration between CAST and the Office of Career, Technical, and Adult Education, which funded the project, we found that the best way to improve the learning environment for the adult education students was to model a UDL professional development learning environment by focusing on relevance and accessibility.

Universal Design for Learning

UDL is an evidence-based framework developed at CAST, a nonprofit education research and design group founded in 1984. Echoing the concept of universal design in architecture, which aims to make spaces and information more accessible to individuals with

disabilities (Mace et al., 2000), UDL is intended to expand learning opportunities for the widest range of learners. UDL offers concrete suggestions (see Figure 1) for designing learning environments and learning experiences that are flexible, customizable, and accessible to all learners (CAST, 2018; Meyer et al; 2014; Rose & Meyer, 2002).

FIGURE 1. CAST UDL Guidelines.

© 2018 CAST, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved. See https://udlguidelines.cast.org for more information.

Universal Design for Learning Guidelines



Purposeful & Motivated

Resourceful & Knowledgeable

UDL is grounded in three core principles:

- Using multiple methods for engaging students in learning that celebrate diverse neurology, culture, personal relevance, subjectivity, background knowledge, and more (the "why" of learning)
- Using multiple methods for representing information, catering to differences in how learners absorb and process information (the "what" of learning)
- 3. Using **multiple means of action and expression** that allow learners to best express what they know based on personal preference and talent (the "how" of learning; CAST, 2018; Meyer et al; 2014; Rose & Meyer, 2002).

Designing PD for Adult Education Instructors Using UDL

The first steps in designing PD for adult education instructors that models UDL were to increase our knowledge of the context and conduct a needs assessment. We focused both on learning process needs and content knowledge. First, we gathered information on the adult educator experience. What did educators want or need to know about teaching and learning? We also reviewed current literature on supporting adult learners with disabilities and learning differences, as well as data on the educational backgrounds and training adult educators received. We analyzed effective strategies for designing online learning for adults and the use of UDL in PD (Hartsoe & Barclay, 2017; Kang et al., 2018). In addition, we conducted individual interviews, surveys, and online focus groups. Participants included education instructors, administrators, coordinators, community group facilitators, and state-level directors. We asked questions such as:

- How do you support the variability in learners?
- How do you help students become independent learners?
- How do you support all learners (English learners, racially diverse learners, students who have been traditionally marginalized, and those with learning differences)?
- Where do you find strategies to apply in your classroom?

Using this research, we developed a series of datadriven instructor and learner personas or thoughtfully developed fictional profiles. By considering how these personas would interact we were able to identify a variety of teaching/learning challenges adult educators and their students might face. The personas helped us investigate how adult educators wanted or needed to consume learning, as well. For example, adult education teachers might be younger than the adults they are teaching. Adult learners might not have access to devices such as laptops or computers for completing work but might be solely reliant on their phones; conversely, adult education teachers might not be comfortable using technology or might not know how to use technology to engage learners. Adult educators may have previous experience as elementary or secondary school teachers and may have limited knowledge of how to leverage adults' prior learning and experience in the classroom.

Leveraging UDL

Next, we analyzed the UDL guidelines to identify which design strategies would most effectively address both the preferences and needs of adult educators:

Accessibility

Adult educators reported limited time, knowledge of resources, and access to the internet (e.g., at correctional facilities). Many volunteers and adult educators work in the field part-time and have multiple jobs. They reported a need for PD that provided clear access to the learning and reduced the cognitive load - working memory and attention - needed to understand and utilize the new information.

Chunking (or breaking up) long blocks of text with images, icons or bullets can make it less challenging for learners to identify and absorb important information. We applied this approach to the self-paced PD modules since adult educators reported having limited blocks of time to devote to asynchronous learning. We also highlighted key concepts to assist with retaining and utilizing essential ideas.

To improve access, we recommend designing PD for adult educators that follows a predictable format, uses consistent terms, and easily identifiable icons. UDL-based accessibility features to consider when designing PD for adult educators:

- Can adults access the content before and after the presentation or workshop is complete? For example, the self-paced modules all include downloadable PowerPoint presentations, giving learners access to the information offline, providing them with customizable resources they can Zoom in on, follow along with, and return to later. UDL checkpoints: 1.1, 1.2, and 1.3.
- Are there multiple ways for adults to consume the content? For example, the self-paced modules all include videos with downloadable transcripts and captions, descriptive hyperlinks, as well as headings, titles, and bullets to learners with adult educators with executive functioning differences, as well as those who may be using screen readers. UDL checkpoint: 2.5.

Relevance

Adult educators reported a need to experience strategies in an applied way that felt authentic and valuable. This means selecting content that is contextually specific and appropriate. In other words, rather than use an interview from a first-grade teacher talking about teaching reading, highlight strategies used by adult educators. Considerations for designing PD for adult educators:

- Does PD include real world scenarios and perspectives or examples from the field? For example, the self-paced modules all begin with case studies that highlight problems of practice experienced in adult learning contexts, as well as video interviews with adult educators. Including content like this in PD offers a source of personal motivation and connection, and highlights experiences, big ideas, strategies, or patterns in adult educators use across the country. UDL checkpoint: 3.2.
- Are there ways for adult educators to immediately apply the content? For example, the self-paced modules all include "Try it Yourself" activities educators can use in their classroom. In addition, administrators are encouraged to repurpose the downloadable PowerPoints to design PD experiences that meet local educator needs. UDL checkpoint: 7.2.

We further increased the value of the modules by basing the content on educators' needs, hosting them on the LINCS website (https://lincs.ed.gov/), and by offering a certificate of completion at the end of each module (see Figure 2).

FIGURE 2: UDL Self-Paced Professional Development Modules

TITLE	DESCRIPTION
It All Starts with the Goal	This module focuses on the why and how of helping adult learners set goals. This module will help adult educators feel better equipped to develop and teach a wide range of learners to create and monitor meaningful, obtainable goals.
Learning that Works for All	The purpose of this module is to identify how research-based learning strategies can increase engagement and access for all learners. Through this module adult educators are introduced to the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) along with strategies they can start to use immediately.
Making Math Matter	The purpose of this module is to improve math instruction for all adult learners, including those with learning differences.
Making Reading & Writing Matter	This module expands the view of literacy to include reading, writing, and other forms of media. The concepts in this module will help adult educators reflect on current approaches and consider new strategies to ultimately help adult learners see why reading and writing truly matter.
Building Communities for Learning	Adults need to feel a sense of belonging in the classroom. In this module adult educators will learn why teaching adults is different than teaching children and identify how they can support community building.
Self-Advocacy for Work & Learning	The purpose of this module is to introduce adult educators to two key terms: self-advocacy and learner agency. Through the module educators will learn the value these concepts bring to the classroom and identify ways they can design learning environments to facilitate and build learner agency.
Improving Systems for Adult Education	This module will be especially useful to administrators who seek to create "expert learning systems" - interrelated learning communities — where all individuals (teachers, volunteers, administrators, etc.) are expert learners who can assess their own needs, set personal and professional learning goals, and monitor their progress.

Conclusion

In designing the new self-paced PD modules, we thought critically about how information was represented and displayed, who would be using the modules, and the ways adult educators would consume and use the content from the modules.

We have designed the new self-paced PD modules to teach and model how UDL can be used to improve the learning experience - for *all* learners. By using UDL to increase the accessibility and relevance of the selfpaced PD modules available on LINCS, we hope adult instructors will experience a learning environment that was designed intentionally with their needs in mind, one they will be equipped and inspired to emulate in their own classrooms.

References

- CAST. (2018). UDL guidelines, version 2.2. https://udlguidelines. cast.org
- Cook, S. C., & Rao, K. (2018). Systematically applying UDL to effective practices for students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *41*(3), 179–191. <u>https://doi. org/10.1177/0731948717749936</u>
- Hartsoe, J. K., & Barclay, S. R. (2017). Universal design and disability: Assessing faculty beliefs, knowledge, and confidence in Universal Design for Instruction. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 30(3), 223–236.
- Kang, Z., Dragoo, M., Yeagle, L., Shehab, R., Yuan, H., Ding, L., & West, S. (2018). Adaptive learning pedagogy of Universal Design for Learning (UDL) for multimodal training. *Journal* of Aviation/Aerospace Education & Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.15394/jaaer.2018.1752</u>

- Mace, Ronald L., Pace, Rex J., Trachtman, Lawrence H., and Young, Leslie C. (2000). The Universal Design Home. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics, 16*(3):1-18.
- Meyer, A., Rose, D. H., & Gordon, D. (2014). Universal design for learning: Theory and practice. CAST, Inc.
- Murphy, M. P. (2021). Belief without evidence? A policy research note on Universal Design for Learning. *Policy Futures in Education*, 19(1), 147821032094020. <u>https://doi. org/10.1177/1478210320940206</u>
- Rose, D. H., & Meyer, A. (2002). *Teaching every student in the digital age: Universal Design for Learning.* Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Report from the Field

Reinventing a Basic Literacy Program

Jessica Tomkins, Literacy New Jersey

Abstract

At Literacy NJ, the decline in our basic literacy services has caused us to reevaluate and reinvent our program. The cornerstone of our new plan is to offer an 8-week vestibule program called Steps to Success for new basic literacy students, focused on goal setting, crucial digital skills, and the development of independent learning strategies. We intend to implement Steps to Success statewide as a way to rebuild our capacity to serve basic literacy students. Ultimately, we believe this will allow us to serve many more students and increase their retention in the program by improving their learning experience.

Keywords: basic literacy, adult basic education, tutor training

Literacy NJ is a statewide network of volunteer-based adult literacy programs. Most serve a combination of ESOL, basic literacy, and high school equivalency students. We are the statewide organization within this network and provide direct service in 12 of New Jersey's 21 counties as well as partnering with affiliate programs throughout the others. We consider basic literacy students to be those whose primary goals are to improve their reading and writing and who are not ready to prepare for a high school diploma or who may already have one. Originally formed in 1979 with a mission specifically to serve these students and with a current student prioritization policy that brings them to the top of our waiting lists, our organization has nonetheless found itself in recent years with a diminished capacity to do this work.

The decline in basic literacy students happened gradually over many years and mirrors the national trend of decreased participation in federally funded adult literacy, particularly in the adult basic education student population (Pickard, 2022). For over 10 years leading up to the pandemic, basic literacy instruction had been a small percentage of our total statewide student population, typically between 20-25%. Our number of basic literacy students declined even more significantly between 2017 and 2019, by then accounting for only about 14% of our statewide services. After the pandemic began, and services temporarily became virtual, all of our student numbers declined, but whereas our ESOL student numbers shrunk by 25%, we lost almost 50% of our already small basic literacy student population.

Challenge

Our volunteer-based programs are well-suited to help basic literacy students succeed. Like many volunteerbased programs, we have flexible schedules, small group sizes, and use student goals to inform instruction. In most communities there are no other programs to which we can refer basic literacy students, and we are typically the referral destination for our partner agencies. Because our basic literacy student population has decreased, however, we have had a smaller corps of tutors trained to help them, and therefore fewer spaces available for new basic literacy students. As this trend continued, we trained fewer basic literacy tutors, and eventually incorporated fewer basic literacy tutoring strategies in our training for new volunteers.

This downward cycle gained momentum in a funding climate that increasingly creates pressure to produce short-term student gains and places a high value on standardized test scores and employment-related outcomes. By focusing our efforts on the short-term outcomes required to maintain funding, we became less adept at serving students who both need the most time in the program and face the greatest external barriers to participation. We were training fewer tutors to do this work and becoming an organization less and less prepared to do it well.

Although our diminished capacity may be related to national trends of declining enrollment, we still see a greater need than we are able to meet, a condition pervasive throughout the nation and linked to each state's investment in adult literacy (Waldman et al., 2022). New Jersey's system consists largely of WIOA Title II programs. Our most recent investigation into the need for services found that our system may be serving as few as 3% of those in need (Jacobson, 2013). While this data is now out of date, there is no evidence that there has been any further investment since, nor has there been further inquiry into the problem. Steps to Success is part of a strategic effort to respond to both a funding climate that encourages programs to de-prioritize ABE students with low literacy levels and a system that lacks the capacity to offer adequate levels of service.

Steps to Success

In order to address the need, and position ourselves to welcome new basic literacy students, we had to rebuild our organization's expertise. We refocused our efforts on the needs of our basic literacy students by organizing the first eight weeks of tutoring into a discrete program. This organization of the curriculum allowed us to create a focused training session that prepares all new volunteers to offer it. As that corps of tutors grows, we will be able to conduct more outreach to basic literacy students.

Steps to Success is intended as a vestibule for new students. These first eight lessons give both tutors and students guidance as they establish a foundation for further teaching and learning. The lessons were created by our staff in Literacy NJ Burlington, one of our county-wide local programs. We have now adopted an organizationwide initiative to offer it in each of our local programs.

The curriculum gives basic literacy students strategies and techniques they can use independently and while working with a tutor. In Steps to Success, we have packaged these strategies, many of which were already included in our tutor training and will be familiar to most in the field, into a cohesive curriculum. This allows us to provide clear direction to tutors and an additional focus on these strategies during tutor training. Tutors work with students to identify goals, establish daily reading habits, and assess digital resources. Each 2-hour lesson includes: reading, writing, and technology strategies; an exploration of online and community resources; and conferencing to reflect on which strategies and resources the student will adopt for use. The purpose of the lessons is to build confidence in students' ability to reach their learning goals by helping them to establish their priorities and create a realistic plan for their learning process.

The eight initial lessons are tailored to the specific students' skills and interests, but they provide clear guidance, even for a tutor or staff member new to this work. We recognize that there is no pre-service training given in a few hours that can make a volunteer an expert in all the varied needs of our learners, but these lessons give tutors, as well as students, a solid place to start. Because the curriculum engages students in an ongoing evaluation of resources and reflection of their goals, it leads them to readjust their strategies as they learn, and to be more cognizant of the learning strategies they will use. This helps to create a partnership between the tutor and the student in which they are more able and likely to share the responsibility for student achievement.

Supporting and retaining basic literacy tutors is key to our effort to rebuild our capacity to provide basic literacy services in two ways. The curriculum provides direction to new tutors, helping us grow the corps of tutors ready to work with basic literacy students. We believe that students who complete Steps to Success are also more likely to stay in the program, helping us to avoid losing tutors who may become frustrated and leave when students stop out. Because they are setting attainable expectations for themselves, and continuously evaluating those expectations, students are more likely to persist. It also allows students to experience success quickly as they experiment and add specific strategies to their personal toolbox, avoiding the discouragement that can come from tackling an overwhelming task such as learning to read or getting a high school diploma. Finally, it motivates students by encouraging them to make connections between what they are learning each week and their long-term goals.

To prepare tutors, we added a 2-hour session to our training course for new tutors. The training includes a review of reading, writing, and goal-setting activities, an overview of the eight Steps to Success lessons, and more in-depth practice with key instructional strategies, such as language experience approach. It also includes testimonials from students in the program that speak to the role these lessons played in their skills and their selfconfidence.

Goal Setting

Steps to Success starts and ends with an in-depth goalsetting exercise using language experience approach, during which students' responses to questions about their short-term and long-term goals are recorded. This is coupled with a survey that helps students assess how literacy and digital skills are part of their everyday lives and how those skills are connected to their goals. Students set goals that range from the practical (e.g., "I just want to be able to read my own mail, fill out my own forms," "I want to get my GED," and "I wanted to write birthday cards to my kids") to goals that tell us about their needs for personal transformation, confidence, and independence. For example, during goal setting, students told us:

"My struggle is to be able to express myself and maybe say a speech. I feel that I don't speak well or with confidence." MM

"I want to be more sociable. I want to conquer my anxiety. I want to be able to have fun again, to see life for what it is and keep moving forward, keep being who I am, and helping as much as I can where I'm needed." RP

This initial goal setting is the core piece of the curriculum, providing the road map for both tutors and students. The lessons that follow are geared towards both specific literacy tasks students want to accomplish and building their independence as learners.

Reading and Writing

Students use recorded stories about their goals as material for building sight word knowledge and fluency. They read and write each week and practice strategies including modeled writing, text annotation, and various before/during/after reading comprehension strategies. Additionally, students read articles, discuss them, and answer comprehension questions.

Technology

Students also create email accounts, do internet searches, learn to use Microsoft Word, and how to type. They use these skills to accomplish learning activities during the lessons and for using online news sites and online software.

Resources

Accessing and exploring resources is an integral feature of the curriculum. Students visit the library to get library cards and to learn about other library services, including online software and the library's apps for downloading books, the events calendar, the adult literacy and high school equivalency materials, dictionaries, laptops, and the reference desk.

Study Skills

Students spend time developing a realistic plan for studying outside of tutoring sessions. Each lesson has homework, including keeping a reading log and using the online resources explored during the sessions.

During each lesson, students are asked to think about which resources are useful to them and whether their plan for studying outside of tutoring is realistic or needs to be revisited. They are encouraged to identify a support person who can help them stay on track with their learning plan.

Reflection

In each lesson, students reflect on their experience. They analyze which activities, learning strategies, and resources are helpful so they can adopt them to use independently and in further tutoring. They also reflect on their goals and learning progress. Because they are revisiting their goals and evaluating their progress along the way, we can see how what they are learning is influencing their experiences outside the classroom. Our students have said:

"The help my tutor gives, like how to sound out words, has really helped me read more. Now I can write paragraphs. I'm more motivated and not shy or scared of the world but I can understand it better." RP

"Finally, every night I read to my grandbaby. That makes me feel so good. My daughter was surprised when I started reading to my granddaughter. She said, 'You never read to us when we were little.' I feel so much better about myself because I can read to my granddaughter. My tutor helps me find a book at the library and practices reading it with me." JJ

Early Results

Student numbers are still too small to learn lessons about retention or long-term student success. However, the first program to consistently use Steps to Success now has twice as many basic literacy students as any of our other programs, relative to their size, returning it to their pre-pandemic numbers. Though the program has not significantly increased outreach efforts, staff have been able to identify, support, and retain more basic literacy students. This shows us that we can use this program to reverse the downward cycle and create momentum towards growth by starting with training on Steps to Success for a group of new volunteers. As of now, we have five statewide trainers who can offer the 2-hour Steps to Success workshop and over 60 tutors recently trained.

Regarding the efficacy of the program itself, we are encouraged by the number of goals reached by the students who complete this curriculum. They have an average of four, which is more than double the average number of personal goals reached by the rest of our basic literacy population. Some of the goals include reading to their children, voting, getting a job, or being able to fill out a job application; the most common goal achieved is being able to use a computer and the internet. Testimonials from students suggest that the program's focus on independent learning is linked to their experience of success:

"I feel nervous and I feel good at the same time. I feel like I'm taking the first steps... I think I'm capable of a lot of things I just didn't have the opportunity to be taught. I think once I'm taught these things I'm able to really flourish and show others, not just myself, what I can really do." BP

"Reading teaches me a lot about what I could do in life.... There's a big difference after working with my tutor. My confidence is higher. I'm more open and not afraid to do what I want to do. I'm ready to live life where I'm feeling ok. I'm ready to start more relationships with people... I've read seven books so far since I started this program. I never finished a book before this program." RP "I feel great. I used to feel bad, degraded.... I used to be shy when I went out. A lot of the time I used to ask my family to do something for me. If they were not around, I couldn't do anything like sending texts or emails. I always had to wait for someone to help me. I don't have to wait now. My son said, 'Mom, you're doing great! You read a lot and know a lot of things.' My kids are very proud of me.... I'm just happy about this program. I wouldn't be in the position I'm in today without it." MM

Next Steps

One advantage of our statewide structure is the ability to replicate successful local programs, and when a program is implemented widely, to generate enough data to make informed decisions about how to improve it. We will continue to expand the use of Steps to Success, learn from the results, and revise it as we continue to learn what works. As new tutors continue to work with students using this material, the results will inform future training and support for basic literacy tutors. We look forward to having enough students participate so that we can analyze student retention, use that information to develop further internal measures of success, and be able to conduct more outreach to potential students.

We expect that this program may help us to redesign intake and the initial tutoring sessions for our ESOL and high school equivalency students as well. This program may be a good model for integrating digital literacy assessments and personal learning plans into the intake process for all students. Already, after first including the curriculum in our pre-service tutoring training as an optional component, the potential benefits to all students became clear, and we recently began offering it to each new volunteer tutor we train.

Ultimately, to be successful, we will need to grow funding sources that are amenable to the timeline and resources required for students to make significant progress, so that we can continue to adapt to the needs of our students and the changing demands on literacy programs.

References

- Jacobson, E. (2013). Investing in New Jersey's adult learners: Needs analysis and recommendations regarding the state of adult literacy education in New Jersey. New Jersey State Employment and Training Commission. https://www.nj.gov/ njsetc/commission/scales/reports/documents/Investing%20 in%20New%20Jersey's%20Adult%20Learners%20Jan%20 2013%20Final.pdf
- Pickard, A. (2022). Declining enrollment in federally-funded adult education: Critical questions for the Field. *Adult Literacy Education: The International Journal of Literacy, Language, and Numeracy,* 4(2), 36–41. https://doi.org/10.35847/ apickard.4.2.36
- Waldman, A., Swaby, A., Clark, A., Cruz, N. S., & Flynn, K. (2022, December 14). *Why America fails adults who struggle to read*. ProPublica. https://www.propublica.org/article/literacyadult-education-united-states

Forum: The Power of Partnership

Introduction to the Forum

David J. Rosen, Newsome Associates

I joined our field in the 1980s as an adult basic education program director and then as the executive director of an adult literacy education professional development center, because I saw our field's potential to help low-literate adults meet their learning goals, escape from poverty, get family-sustaining wages or salaries, bring up children who love reading, writing and numeracy/mathematics, and be productive members of their communities and our society. In many ways, I have seen our field become more sophisticated and accountable, but I have also seen a shift away from serving the lowest levels of learners, those who may not have as a goal getting a job or on a career pathway or preparing for post-secondary education. I have seen public funding focus on jobs, careers, or postsecondary education at the expense of native speakers of English who need the most basic levels of literacy, and of immigrants who need the most basic levels of English speaking, listening, reading, and writing skills. I have also seen evidence showing that the major source of public funding for adult education and literacy, the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity and Act Title II, Adult Education and Family Literacy, now serves well under 2% of the adults in need of basic education.¹ These concerns urgently need to be met by a broader and more ambitious vision for whom our field should be serving, significantly increased funding, and with specific examples of how those needs can best be addressed.

One promising way to reach more adult learners is with partnerships between adult (foundational) education programs (i.e. adult basic literacy, adult basic education, adult secondary education, and English for adult immigrants and refugees) and other service providers such as senior services, parks and recreation services, digital inclusion services, health and medical services, affordable housing providers, battered women's services, public libraries, and other organizations whose primary mission is not education, but whose adult clients, patients, residents, patrons and others need basic education services in order to meet their needs and goals. A "go to where adult learners are" in addition to a "come to us" model can benefit the field, its programs, and the communities our field serves. The three articles that follow are examples of some of the ways that our field has supported partnerships that meet that wider range of learners' goals.

The first article in this Forum provides a detailed account of lessons learned by the City of Philadelphia's Office of Children and Families, as they set out to systematically implement a "go to the learners" digital literacy instruction model. The authors provide a brief history of the City's past involvement in community computer skills delivery to adults, how they tried to rebuild that capacity after the Covid-19 pandemic, and lessons learned from more recent efforts that focused on learners' articulated needs, and meeting those needs in the trusted community spaces in which the learners were already comfortable. It describes partnerships for meeting these needs with older adult centers, and parks and recreation centers. With the advent of several new pieces of federal legislation, including multi-year, state-provided funding beginning in 2024 through the federal Digital Equity Act, experience from projects like this one are especially helpful to city and town administrators, and adult (foundational) educators who want to benefit from this new funding to address the digital literacy needs of adults and young adults in their communities.

The Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy in Houston, Texas, has developed a comprehensive plan for adult literacy that builds participation of a wide range of public and private organizations for adult literacy education partnerships. In addition to long-time and new adult literacy providers in the Houston metropolitan area, it encourages and supports a wider community-based approach that includes delivery of services in other venues, e.g., in digital equity and inclusion programs, financial institutions, faith-based organizations, health care services, for City of Houston employees, and in the City's public library department as well as in workforce preparation programs. Although cities such as Philadelphia, Boston, Nashville, and others have developed city-based adult literacy initiatives, Houston's blueprint is the best current example of a comprehensive city-based effort to support adult education ecosystem partnerships. This article describes five kinds of partnerships and provides more information on the work of the Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy. The effort in Houston is a good example of current work in building a collective impact model in adult literacy education.

Portland (Oregon) State University's Department of Applied Linguistics has a partnership with an affordable housing project for low-income seniors that since the mid-1990s has served older adult immigrants who need English language learning. The Community ESL Project enables ESL Master's degree candidate teachers-in-training to provide English classes to these adults in locations that are convenient and that enable them to attend despite their physical challenges. It enables older adult immigrants to have English lessons focused on their needs and enables their English teachers-in training to experience supervised instruction in authentic adult immigrant teaching and learning settings.

All three partnerships described here are examples of "go to where the learners are." Such an approach needs to be more than offering the same class that is currently available at an adult (foundational) education program in a new location but with the same curriculum and in the same way. Instead, and there are good examples of this in these articles, with this approach it needs to begin with specific learners' needs, purposes and goals, and the curriculum and instruction need to be customized to them. As the articles describe, these kinds of partnerships involve more planning and maintenance time, especially between partner organizations. There are also different kinds of challenges in maintaining these partnerships over time, including achieving stable funding.

Endnotes

According to the National Reporting System for Adult Education, in program year 2001- 2002 2,788,218 adult education and literacy learners were served, the highest annual number in the last two decades. (Source: NRS National Reporting System for Adult Education, an official website of the United States government https://nrs.ed.gov/rt/reports/aggregate). Since then, there has been a steady decline in the number of adult learners served with these funds provided by the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act, Title II. In program year 2019-2020, the year before the pandemic when enrollment dropped even more precipitately, only 1,113,571 adult learners were served through Title II federal funds. By 2020, nearly two decades later, 40% fewer adults were served by the major source of federal public funding in the U.S. The latest U.S. data show that the current need for adult literacy and education services is 48 million people. Of this 48 million, WIOA Title II now annually serves under 2% of those in need.

Forum: The Power of Partnership

(Part 1 of 3)

Digital Skills Partnerships: Philadelphia Office of Children and Families, Adult Education Division

Anne Pyzocha and Sylvia Boateng, Philadelphia Office of Children and Families, Adult Education Division

Based on lessons learned over the past 9 months of programming in 2023, the Office of Children and Families, Adult Education has key recommendations for literacy providers looking to provide basic digital skills for adult learners: build partnerships with organizations that serve atypical learning locations and meet learners where they already are, both physically and skills-wise.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, The City of Philadelphia, like many literacy providers across the country, quickly discovered that a significant number of residents needed support learning about digital skills. This specific skillset quickly became a necessity to access so many aspects of life that moved online after previously being conducted in-person. When faced with these computer-based tasks, many residents lacked the ability to navigate them with confidence. Significant work was done at that time by employees within City government, alongside volunteers and workers at community-based organizations, to ensure the residents who needed assistance were reached so that they could receive the supportive services they needed for digital skills. And while many aspects of life today have nearly returned to a pre-pandemic rhythm, the work around digital equity has only gained more momentum.

In recognition, the Office of Innovation and Technology in Philadelphia released a Digital Equity Plan in January 2022 to address the myriad ways it continues to tackle the digital divide facing its residents. The main barriers residents face were identified as affordability, digital literacy and support, housing insecurity, and language, cultural, and racial barriers. To address these barriers, the City outlined a series of goals to help residents with these issues. Embedded in the goal of providing digital skills support for Philadelphians is the expectation that this training be centered around both the work and personal lives of residents. The three of the key strategies encompassed in this goal are building a coordinated system of digital literacy providers across the City, standardizing digital literacy assessments and curriculum for all learners across providers in Philadelphia, as well as ensuring multi-lingual outreach to residents. This is where our office saw an opportunity to contribute to this goal.

To best align with and support these strategies, the Philadelphia Office of Children and Families, Adult Education Division (OCFAE) made a commitment to prioritize funding and supporting basic digital literacy programming for adult learners aged 16 and up. One baseline activity included OCFAE's funding of Northstar Digital Literacy subscriptions for interested literacy providers within the City, which is still in place today. Through taking on this cost, OCFAE has enabled providers to access this online platform free of charge.

Northstar, an online platform created and maintained by Literacy Minnesota, offers basic digital skills assessments and certificates, self-directed online learning for participants, and pre-written teacher lesson plans. These tools allow literacy organizations who are interested in launching digital literacy programming to do so without undertaking the massive task of creating curriculum, materials, and lesson plans from scratch. Currently, there are materials available in both English and Spanish, with plans for future translations into additional languages. By absorbing the cost of Northstar for providers, as well as purchasing a significant amount of licenses for organizations across the City, OCFAE was able accomplish two goals. One was to build a coordinated system of digital literacy providers across the City. The second was to support the standardization of digital literacy assessments and curricula for all learners. The idea here was that if a

learner started Northstar at one organization and had to switch to another for any reason, they could continue their digital literacy progress in any part of the City. Additionally, the City created advertising materials in multiple languages that allowed for speakers of many languages to learn about digital skills classes and ways to access them.

Beyond investing in Northstar Digital Literacy, another aspect of OCFAE's support of this programming is through a partnership with the Philadelphia Parks and Recreation (PPR) department that brings basic digital skills classes into older adult centers (OACs) in the City. OCFAE has worked extensively to bring digital skills workshops to PPR sites. Originally launched in 2011, adult digital skills training was based on a network of public computing centers called KEYSPOTS. These KEYSPOTS were housed in community-based organizations, libraries, and PPR recreation centers where learners could access computers and digital skills training. Only a few KEYSPOTS remained open as access centers during the COVID-19 pandemic, while most were shut down. As the world began to reopen after COVID hit, PPR decided to re-establish eight of their public computing centers which were now branded as KEYSPOT Innovation and Technology (KIT) centers, locating them within their recreation centers. Building on the foundations of the KEYSPOT investments, OCFAE sought to reimagine the partnership with PPR.

With this in mind, and considering that adult education is typically connected to workforce entities, libraries, and community-based organizations, OCFAE was interested in exploring other locations where adult education could succeed. A partnership with PPR to bring digital skills to the recreation centers seemed like a logical move. OCFAE released a request for proposal to hire a local literacy provider to develop workshops at courses to be held at the KIT centers, schedule and proctor Northstar assessments, use a train-the-trainer model to build more capacity for PPR computer instructors, and connect interested learners with additional adult education support and opportunities.

The KIT centers, however, proved to be complicated spaces to facilitate classes due to several factors. The main pain points that caused logistical complications were the timing and space sharing limitations related to children and adults being in the same space at the same time, as well as the different schedules for the summer camps being held at the recreation centers. All of this was compounded against low participation at one-off workshop sessions. And although the classes did not work in the manner they were originally envisioned, there was high confidence in the potential of the PPR model.

This led the OCFAE and PPR teams, along with the provider, to conduct a strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats analysis. This analysis highlighted a few key areas related to programming. The first major conclusion from the analysis was that adult education is most sustainable in adult-centered spaces, which the KIT recreation centers were clearly not. Classes and workshops needed to be held in places where adults already had a presence rather than figuring out how to weave adult programming into child-centric spaces.

The second conclusion was that stand-alone workshops were not the ideal structure for meaningfully reaching adult learners. Cohort or rolling-admissions classes seemed to be a more effective model for learners looking to improve their basic digital skills. Learners both wanted and needed multiple workshops to earn a Northstar Digital Literacy certificate. They required more time and practice to truly gain confidence in their new skills. Finally, the OACs run through PPR had previously requested adult digital literacy programming but had been unable to secure stable, reliable, and quality programming across their sites. With that in mind, these centers seemed like logical places to apply resources.

Across the City of Philadelphia, there are six OACs located in a variety of neighborhoods. Unlike other adult education class locations which are open to all ages (e.g., recreations centers, libraries, and workforce sites), OACs have an age requirement of 55 and older for entrance. These centers offer extensive programming to those who decide to utilize them, ranging from exercise and health programs to social services, volunteer opportunities, art programs, recreational and cultural programs, door-todoor transportation, daily lunch, as well as lifelong learning programs. The OACs see up to 100 visitors over the course of each day. The case for moving the classes away from the KIT recreation centers to the OACs continued to become clearer due to the robust programming already in place, as well as a consistent group of visitors.

OCFAE began by bringing in programs to three of the OACs. As programming got off the ground and word

spread through PPR about the new classes, more OAC site managers began to reach out about securing digital literacy programming in their locations as well. Slowly but surely, more OAC locations were slated to have digital skills classes. The classes at each site currently have between 5-10 learners, and attendance is very consistent. We saw these attendance numbers increase immediately by moving the location of the classes to a space where there are already learners. Recruitment also became significantly easier by meeting learners where they already were.

The ethos of meeting the learners where they are skillswise also holds true for the entire program. Instructors have tailored these in-person classes to respond to the needs of their participants. For example, while there was not a huge demand for learning skills around composing emails, there were numerous requests for how to access telemedicine and social media. The instructors took this into consideration when writing their lesson plans and figuring out what topics to focus on. Additionally, while there were some requests for learning how to navigate computers, most participants wanted to build confidence around using their smartphones to access these resources. Once again, the instructors also took this into consideration and made sure to write their lesson plans in such a way that allowed learners to learn how to complete these skills using either a computer or a smartphone. The lessons were also structured to be highly engaging for participants and to allow for ample time for social connections. By taking these steps, the instructors could make classes accessible to their learners. This work was done in part by spending time getting to know the learners as individuals, discovering what their goals are, learning what skills they can do easily and which ones need more strengthening, setting up classes in such a way that allow for learners to teach and support one another, and allowing for space for learners to demonstrate their newly gained skills to their peers.

OCFAE was also able to bring additional digital supports to the older adult learners in the OAC digital skills classes. A digital needs assessment is done with each learner to identify not only what skills they need and want to learn, but also their internet and device needs. If learners need to get connected to free or low-cost internet, the instructors can connect them to Digital Navigators. The Navigators will then work one-on-one with learners to sign up for the Affordable Connectivity Program (if they qualify). Another way OCFAE's funding supports digital equity is through device distribution. All of OCFAE's contracts require providers to purchase quality devices for learners in adult education classes. In the coming months, learners in need of a laptop will be identified and provided with a device. It is a goal to ensure that learners can fully utilize the skills gained from their classes with their new computers.

OCFAE still maintains a partnership with the original PPR sites despite programming shifts. The paid provider continues to create a pathway between their classes and the PPR sites through the PPR Computer Instructors. With the pivot to a class model as opposed to one-on-one support, OCFAE wanted to ensure learners continued to have access to an expert to help them through any individual technology needs and questions they may have outside of class. The class instructors now refer learners to the PPR computer instructors, given the new capacity limitations. Learners receive information for locations and times they can drop in at the PPR sites for additional support. They are also to apply what they learn at the OACs at the computer labs at PPR KIT centers.

The partnership with OCFAE and PPR continues to grow, and both public and private OACs have asked for digital skills instruction to be offered at their sites. The demand for the workshops has not only led to more residents gaining the knowledge they need around digital skills, but also led us to identify the technology gaps at the OACs. One location did not have a computer lab, and another had outdated computers. Upon learning this, OCFAE worked with other City departments to bring the computer labs up to date so that these sites could allow patrons to access the online tools and resources that they needed while there. Residents and visitors of the OACs now have an additional avenue for digital access that previously did not exist to them through the establishment of these computer labs. Learners can confidently access the resources they need with their newfound skillset.

Flexibility based on capacity and feedback is key to keeping these continuing partnerships both effective and sustainable. Between working with the PPR to ensure the technology located on-site is current, to working older adult centers to serve their population, the needs of many organizations are being met while working together towards a collective goal: to serve adult learners who want to strengthen their digital literacy skills.

Forum: The Power of Partnership

(Part 2 of 3)

Adult Literacy Ecosystem Partnerships Beyond the Workforce

Jacqueline Aguilera and Federico Salas-Isnardi, Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy

Adult literacy programs are critical for individuals who face challenges in functional literacy and in other areas of literacy required to successfully navigate through everyday living. These programs empower adult learners and have a significant impact on their families and communities. A large percentage of adult learners come from underresourced and under-serviced areas and come from systemically under-resourced neighborhoods, a number of structures, systems, policies, and practices have resulted in significant gaps in access to equitable resources and support (Mayor's Office for Adult Education, 2021). In order to address the systemic injustice of low literacy, a network of partners from across sectors must come together not just to collaborate but to plan for results (Mayor's Office for Adult Education, 2021).

With the increased focus of adult education on the needs of industry and workforce preparation, employer relations have become a driver for the field. However, employment is not the only challenge for adult learners nor is it the only goal our adults have. Successfully addressing their challenges requires a broader approach to partnership development based on a collective impact model. Understanding the inter-relationship between actively addressing learner challenges and the successful completion of their goals requires a holistic approach to adult education service planning. This inclusive approach incorporates an adult literacy ecosystem comprised of adult learners, adult literacy providers, community nonprofit and faith-based organizations, the education system (K-12), wrap-around service and government agencies, and the business community (Mayor's Office for Adult Education, 2021). Together, these partnerships provide opportunities for a provider network that supports the needs of various stakeholders through innovative solutions that are as likely to be initiated by the traditional provider of literacy services as they are by business partners who are coming to understand the impact of these programs on their incumbent workforce. The different partners come together understanding that they each address a different need of the adults and families served and that successfully addressing those needs requires a concerted effort to avoid duplication and maximize outcomes.

The current adult education system plays a vital role in promoting literacy skills and services for adults across the country; however, adult educators alone cannot address the multiple systemic challenges associated with low literacy (Cacicio et al., 2023). This article explores partnerships between large national service groups, financial institutions, global software developers, the faithbased community, health care systems, city government and adult literacy providers. While these partnership descriptions are Houston, Texas. based, they demonstrate the impact working together can have to accomplish common goals and desired outcomes for populations served in under-resourced communities around the nation.

Partnership Description 1: Volunteer Recruitment and The Next Step, Inc.

The Next Step, Inc. (TNSI, 2023), a nonprofit organization addressing digital access and literacy, partnered with Volunteers of America Texas (VOA Texas) to give clients a comprehensive path to financial stability through education and support services. Lakisha Bates, Director of Professional Skills Development at TNSI, says they have been actively working towards adding financial literacy into their Microsoft Office Basics Program in response to Houston's Adult Literacy Blueprint. The newly developed partnership with VOA Texas ensures their clients are connected to a trusted financial education and financial coaching provided without delay. The partnership between TNSI and VOA Texas exemplifies the collective effort to create a brighter, more inclusive future for underserved communities across the state (TNSI, 2023)

Partnership Description 2: Financial Institutions and EastSide University

Under the Community Reinvestment Act (1977), banking institutions are encouraged to assess and address the financial needs of the communities in which they do business. Part of this process includes financial literacy. EastSide University (ESU), for 25 years a provider of adult basic education, high school equivalency, and digital literacy, is located in an under-served area called the Third Ward community in Houston, Texas. ESU formed a partnership with Houston Money Week, a group of financial education providers and institutions, including area banks, making it possible to offer no-cost personal finance classes and workshops. Learners received information and resources to assist with credit repair, scams, identity theft, and money management skills leading to savings goals. Some learners opened accounts for the first time in their lives, and through a financial essay contest, one ESU mother won contest funds helping her to buy her child a motorized wheelchair.

Partnership Description 3: Xprize and Adult Literacy Providers of Houston

The Xprize (2023), whose mission is to "inspire and empower humanity to achieve breakthroughs that accelerate and abundant and equitable future for all," needed non-profit education providers for a national competition piloting newly developed apps for English as a second language and high school equivalency courses. ESU partnered with two of Houston's larger adult literacy providers, Memorial Assistance Ministries and Community Family Centers, to form a team that led the teacher training to support learner usage of the apps across the city. This team won the national competition. Five months later, COVID-19 forced all schools and businesses to close their physical sites temporarily; the programs that were now comfortable using educational apps and other online platforms were among the only ones able to continue offering learning opportunities without interruption, resulting in over 9,000 learners continuing to be served despite the mass closures across the city.

Partnership Description 4: Faith-Based Organizations and Aldine Independent School District's Family and Community University

One of Houston area's largest school districts, Aldine Independent School District's (Aldine ISD, 2023) Family and Community University, centers around the central theme of "Empowering Families Look Forward." All lessons and resources are provided in both English and Spanish or Vietnamese. Ivan Tamayo, Family and Community Engagement Specialist, says that the project's success is related to the collaborative efforts of multiple departments within Aldine ISD, the generous participation of nonprofit organizations, and, most importantly, families and community members eager to learn and take advantage of learning opportunities. The program partnered with two local churches to serve 300 families with English as a second language classes. The partnership allows for unique opportunities to engage with the school system through contextualized classroom experiences benefiting their families.

Partnership Description 5: Health Care Services Related Partnerships with Legacy Health Care

The Legacy Little Readers Prescription for Reading program supports family literacy through a unique partnership between books and their attending physicians. As part of wellness visits, families leave with an age-appropriate book and a "prescription" from the caregiver to read. Thanks to partnerships with the Barbara Bush Houston Literacy Foundation, HEB, The Molina Foundation, The Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy (MOAL), and many individual donors, the program has given away more than 231,000 books during well-child visits. Low literacy is associated with many adverse health and preventative care outcomes. Prescription to Read brings together fundamental literacy with health literacy in the health care setting where caregivers contribute to both the physical and educational welfare of those served. Family literacy within a health care facility is taking the concept of contextualized instruction to a level which reaches the people where they are and creates a model that providers consideration for an alternative that can address the issues of transportation and childcare.

Partnership Description 5: City Government-Based Partnerships with the Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy

MOAL in Houston was opened in September of 2019 through the leadership of Mayor Sylvester Turner and Dr. Rhea Brown Lawson, Houston Public Library Executive Director. The office was created to advocate for adult literacy providers and their learners and to educate the community at large about the impact of low literacy on all aspects of our community. MOAL does not provide direct services but helps literacy providers establish partnerships for service as much as it helps other partners establish in-house educational programs for their employees and clients through collaborations with literacy programs. Through the pandemic, the office played a significant lead in finding ways to support adult literacy providers with alternative solutions to providing services to their learners. An objective of The Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy's leadership has been to change the conversation about literacy and project the need for services in every possible community forum. The results have been significant. In 2020, MOAL was contacted by the Molina Foundation offering a donation that brought 35,000 new books to Houston for distribution to the city's adult education and family literacy programs. Drive-Up 4 Literacy made it possible for literacy providers to pick up cases of new books for their programs when libraries were still closed to the public, collecting age-appropriate materials from the safety of their cars or in open spaces to observe safety protocols at the height of the pandemic.

MOAL and The Molina Foundation successfully partnered for two additional book distributions providing for additional distribution events totaling more than 25,000 new books. The drive-up model of distribution during the pandemic expanded in 2021 to include distributing laptops to adult literacy programs within the city's limits. Whether the events were to distribute books or laptops, the model was made possible because area businesses and foundations near and far initiated the partnership with the office because they understood the impact of their support on the efforts of adult literacy providers to keep adult learners engaged in their educational pursuits.

With the support of the Barbara Bush Houston Literacy Foundation, MOAL was able to work collaboratively on research that would become the nation's first blueprint for adult literacy. Houston's Blueprint for Adult Literacy is a 15-year strategic plan dedicated to addressing the challenge that 32% (1:3) adults in Harris County function at the lowest levels of literacy (Mayor's Office for Adult Education, 2021). Partnerships were an important part of the successful planning process. Over 100 partner organizations participated in the development of the document and suggested sources for the research conducted. Their engagement was important not only because it helped MOAL identify strategic goals that include the partners' needs but also because the Blueprint reflects the input and voices of the partners. The strategic plan would not be a success if those voices had not been integrated. A critical result of the broadened literacy ecosystem has been the number of businesses and agencies that call MOAL to ask about starting adult education and literacy programs in their locations because they see MOAL as a broker of services. So, most recently, a large company providing janitorial services contacted MOAL to help them connect to a literacy provider to start English language classes for their employees. Even other departments of the city, employing hundreds of immigrant and low-skilled workers, have contacted our office to broker discussions with providers to set up adult education classes throughout the city.

MOAL uses the Blueprint to coordinate support for adult literacy providers through professional development topics and strategies that align with the seven goals at the heart of the plan. Pilot projects from grant funds that align to the Blueprint have allowed MOAL to develop unique and innovative opportunities for providers to serve their learners, especially in the areas of digital literacy.

The digital divide is one of the most persistent systemic inequities affecting under-resourced communities. This was made evident during COVID-19 related closures when access was limited for those who did not have connectivity, devices, or the knowledge needed to access resources vital to daily living, accessing health care, information, applying for assistance or employment, and attending classes that had transitioned to virtual instruction models (Mayor's Office for Adult Education, 2021). Funding for digital equity and inclusion projects allowed MOAL to create opportunities for adult literacy providers that benefit traditional literacy while supporting or advancing digital literacy programming. Through a competitive grant from Literacy Minnesota for AmeriCorps VISTA, MOAL was able to secure VISTA members who worked with providers to establish the Bridge Digital Academy (BDA). The BDA utilizes North Star Digital Literacy to institute a standard digital literacy model within the cohort that also allows for the customization of the model for each provider service population. The BDA includes a unique partnership between the Barbara Bush Houston Literacy Foundation, Houston Community College, and The Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy. The Foundation generously agreed to invest in the BDA to help meet a portion of the costs of the VISTA members for the project. Houston Community College also agreed to help with costs and to provide space and shared supervision of the VISTA members with The Mayor's Office for Adult Literacy. Houston Community College also provides advisory services regarding their certification and degree opportunities for adult learners participating in the BDA. Each adult literacy provider receives individual assistance in developing their digital literacy programming, professional development, and advisory support from MOAL and continues to be supported while expanding their BDA programming from basic digital literacy to upskilling and reskilling for technology-driven employment opportunities.

The successful launch of the BDA and the city's commitment to digital equity brought an additional opportunity for MOAL to develop a digital equity project in partnership with the Houston Public Library and the Complete Communities, Houston's equitable development initiative established by Mayor Sylvester Turner focused on bridging the gap between equity and opportunity in historically under-resourced neighborhoods. This opportunity for a collaborative project utilizes adult literacy providers serving 5 of the 10 complete communities to establish community computer labs for citizens who lack equitable access to digital resources. These digital spaces address the three goals of broadband related funding: access, connectivity, and training. The project also includes the planned acquisition in 2024 of a mobile digital literacy training vehicle that will allow MOAL to expand the project's impact throughout the Greater Houston area. The grant funds the purchase of a new bus that will not only provide access to traditional digital literacy instruction but also integrates up-to-date technology that includes laptops with VR and AR capabilities and training opportunities for both adult literacy instructors and their learners. Partnerships with entities like Xprize provide the opportunity to engage with adult education app and reskilling software developers for access to pilot versions for the project, making available digital literacy skills experiences that might not be accessible were it not for this collaboration.

Conclusion

Partnerships between agencies and organizations that serve adults living in poverty and adult literacy programs are key as they can bring together stakeholders such as national volunteer service groups, financial institutions, global software developers, the faith-based community, health care systems, city government and adult literacy providers. Cross-sector partnering ensures that the full range of community-serving entities can better meet their objectives by working with adult literacy providers to ensure that adults receive comprehensive support and equitable access to a wide range of services and learning support to address the range of challenges they face in daily life. If those operating in the same space as organizations that provide educational services for adult learners can establish a working relationship with their neighboring adult literacy providers, then improved outcomes that benefit all within the literacy ecosystem can be achieved. Workforce-based outreach to adult literacy providers is strong as demand for an equipped talent pool continues to rise. However, the diverse stakeholders in the business and non-profit community will achieve greater impact in serving adults living in poverty if they include adult literacy providers in their outreach as pointedly as workforce agencies do. This article focused on diverse partnerships between members of the Houston profit and non-profit entities and adult literacy providers. These provider descriptions illustrate how inclusive, innovative partnering can address diverse needs that extend beyond workforce outcomes and create more holistic solutions for adults, their families, and the communities in which they reside.

References

- Aldine Independent School District. (2023). Aldine ISD Family and Community University. https://www.aldineisd.org/ about/departments/office-of-communications/familyand-community-engagement-department/family-andcommunity-university/
- Cacicio, S., Cote, P., & Bigger, K. (2023). Investing in multiple literacies for individual and collective empowerment. The Adult Literacy and Learning Impact Network. https:// allinliteracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Investingin-Multiple-Literacies-forIndividual-and-Collective-Empowerment.pdf
- Mayor's Office for Adult Education. (2021, June 8). *Houston's Adult Literacy Blueprint*. https://houstontx.gov/ adultliteracyblueprint/index.html
- The Next Step, Inc. (2023, October 6). TNSI and VOA partners to help more Texans with a path to financial stability [press release].
- Xprize. (2023). About us: A global future positive movement. https://www.xprize.org/about/mission

Forum: The Power of Partnership

(Part 3 of 3)

Providing English Language Classes Through Partnership

Kathy Harris, Portland State University

Acknowledgements: The Community ESL Project and the Language Teaching Practicum at Portland State University in the department of Applied Linguistics is possible because of the leadership of Maxine Thompson, Coordinator at the Leaders Roundtable and Lena Koessler, Intensive English Language Program faculty at Portland State University. Practicum supervisors Leslie Siebert, Regina Weaver, and Jenny Stenseth continued to provide leadership as the project expanded and changed. The partnership with Rose Schnitzer Tower is to the credit of efforts by Lena Koessler and Rose Schnitzer Tower service coordinators including Miley Stanton-Flowers and Natasha Pellechi.

"According to 2018 American Community Survey data, there are 25.6 million children, youth, and adults who speak English less than very well in the United States. Of those, 11.4 million are adults ages 18 and older. Data on the federally funded adult education system under the Workforce Innovation Act (WIOA) Title II show that programs have served fewer than one million of these adults in ESOL classes per year over the last 10 years." (Uvin et al., 2021)

As the facts in the quote above make clear, federally funded adult education programs serve only a fraction of the adults who need English language (ESL) classes. There are many reasons for this, including barriers related to cost, transportation, class schedule, childcare and family responsibilities, work schedule, access to technology, and digital skills (Bairamova & Dixson, 2019a; Patterson, 2018). Other barriers are more internal to learners and include anxiety or fear, a lack of confidence in themselves, motivation, and health concerns (Bairamova & Dixson, 2019b; Patterson & Wei, 2018).

One way that organizations serving adults with foundational skill needs such as English language can connect adult learners to those services is through partnerships. Many partnerships with adult education providers involve workforce development agencies but for adult English learners whose goals do not include employment, other partnerships are needed. One such partnership in Portland, Oregon, that arose to meet a specific need not being addressed by existing programs is called the Community ESL Project, a partnership between an affordable housing organization serving seniors and a university training English language teachers.

How the Partnership Began

The Community ESL Project arose in 1995 when a group of high school students with a mission to improve English language instruction at schools across Portland, Oregon, approached the Leaders Roundtable. At the time, the Leaders Roundtable was an ad hoc group of top educational and private sector leaders and elected officials working toward the goal of student success in their local area. The students asserted that their English language instruction would improve with the participation of their parents, but that their parents' participation needed to be supported by improving their own English skills. The Leaders Roundtable responded by establishing a partnership with Portland State University (PSU) and the department of Applied Linguistics which housed programs to train English language teachers. PSU and the Leaders Roundtable collaborated with the Schools Uniting Neighborhoods program which was established to create service hubs in low-income schools and their communities. In this partnership, the Leaders Roundtable representative would interact with the Schools Uniting Neighborhoods program coordinators to find space at each targeted school, identify a site coordinator, and recruit parents to the English classes. A PSU practicum coordinator would select and supervise English language teachers-in-training and liaise with the school site coordinator to provide local support for the teachers.

The Community ESL Project operated at 10-12 elementary, middle, and high school sites from 1995-2010. The innovative project was a finalist and received a cash prize of \$5,000 in 2009 from the Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter Partnership Award for Campus-Community Partnerships. The award showcases examples of campuscommunity partnerships with academic departments and interdisciplinary teams that leverage the resources of the university for the benefit of both the community and the university and enhance both research and student learning by developing and sustaining reciprocal teaching and/or research partnerships which are foundational to effective community engagement.

At the end of 2010, the Leaders Roundtable disbanded. The Community ESL Project became the Language Teaching Practicum and expanded to provide English language classes taught by English teachers-in-training to settings where they had not been before. Sites included a literacy organization and several affordable housing organizations including Rose Schnitzer Tower.

The Partners

Rose Schnitzer Tower

Built in 1980 by Schnitzer Properties (formerly Harsch Investment Properties), the Rose Schnitzer Tower building was the first high-rise apartment building in downtown Portland for low income seniors and other adults with disabilities. Currently, 40% of the building residents are English learners and 90% are older than 62. The building is within walking distance from PSU. Schnitzer Properties has since sold the property to Cedar Sinai Park but continues to provide property management services including hiring resident service coordinators who work to connect residents to services through local partnerships. Examples of these partnerships include health services such as foot care and blood pressure checks, support groups of various kinds, information on the process for getting a caregiver, and English language classes.

Portland State University English Language Teaching Practicum

Portland State University is an urban serving university in downtown Portland, Oregon. The department of Applied Linguistics at PSU was formed in 1988, housing a Master's Degree in Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages and a Teaching English as a Second Language certificate that can be completed in addition to an Applied Linguistics (or other) major or as a post-baccalaureate certificate. In addition to courses on language structure and use and language teaching and learning, a language teaching practicum is required.

The language teaching practicum plays an important role in teacher training programs focused on educating English language teachers (Farrell, 2008; Gebhard 2009). In a practicum, teachers-in-training apply what they have learned in their coursework by teaching their own class; teachers-in-training assess and respond to learner needs, create and implement lessons and materials, and adapt instruction based on formative assessments. Importantly, teachers-in-training work to build positive relationships, trust, and cooperation (Kamhi-Stein et al., 2020).

How the Partnership Works

The Language Teaching Practicum has been offering an ESL class onsite at Rose Schnitzer Tower since 2011 throughout each academic year, in fall, winter, and spring terms. Classes meet for 90 minutes, two times each week for 8 weeks each term. Classes were not held during 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic. The resident services coordinator at Rose Schnitzer Tower works to ensure that the services are available to residents in relevant languages, and at times and locations that work for the seniors. Specific to the English language class, the resident services coordinator advertises and recruits learners, makes sure that textbooks are available, works to solve any access issues, and reserves an appropriate room for the class. With the increasing affordances of technology in language teaching, Rose Schnitzer Tower regularly upgrades the room where the English class is held.

To prepare to teach at the Rose Schnitzer Tower, the teacher-in-training observes at least one class the term prior to the term that they will teach. This helps to establish continuity as well as starts to build community with the learners. The incoming teacher-in-training meets at least one more time with the outgoing teacherin-training and has full access to the assessments, curriculum, and lesson plans of the outgoing teacher-intraining as well as all previous teachers-in-training at Rose Schnitzer Tower. The incoming teacher also meets with the Resident Services Coordinator to get a tour of the facility and learn more about the building residents.

Weekly meetings with other teachers-in-training and the practicum supervisor provide guidance and support throughout the term. Each meeting includes information about teaching, often referring back to pedagogy classes, and discussion of the classroom teaching being experienced by the teachers-in-training. The teachers-intraining keep logs of the learners' attendance, their lesson plans, and reflections for each class. Through discussion and self-reflection, the new teachers learn to focus on the learners and discover how to gauge the teaching practices that are effective for the specific learners in their classroom. As seniors, the adult learners at Rose Schnitzer Tower are third-age learners and may have vision or hearing impairments and do not typically have English needs related to employment or the education of children, both common interests of younger adult English learners but instead have interests related to socializing with others and in learning for its own sake (Kacetl & Klímová, 2021). Third-age learners such as the adult learners at Rose Schnitzer Tower benefit from instruction that leverages their knowledge and experience, in informal ways that is not driven by the need to cover a certain curriculum. The teacher-in-training at Rose Schnitzer Tower designs curriculum, lessons, and activities that meet the needs of the third-age learners in the classroom.

The teachers-in-training receive feedback on their lesson design from the practicum supervisor early in the term and the practicum supervisor observes each teacherin-training about half way through the term to provide feedback on the teaching. The teachers-in-training select one more way to get feedback based on the specific teaching aspect they are working on, which could be an additional observation, an observation of a peer focused on a specific question, a reading, an individual consultation with the supervisor, or other method of their choice, all with the goal of meeting the needs of the adult learners in their classes.

Opportunities and Challenges

The partnership between Rose Schnitzer Tower and the PSU Language Teaching practicum provides many benefits to both the adult learners and to the English teachers-intraining. For example,

- The English teachers-in-training have an opportunity to teach their own class of adult English learners. They create lessons and materials to meet the needs of the adult learners in their classes with the support of colleagues and supervisor.
- The senior adult English learners get English classes that meet their needs, at no cost to them, at their location. They look forward to ESL classes resuming in the fall (no classes are held during the summer because of the university schedule).
- The adult learners do not have to be U.S. citizens and English learning can help those who are applying to be U.S. citizens.

The partnership faces regular challenges. For example, the successful partnership

- requires coordination between the practicum supervisor employed at the university and the Resident Services Coordinator employed at the affordable housing organization. This can be especially challenging if there is frequent turnover in either role.
- requires getting the word out to elderly residents which is an ongoing struggle, especially if the day and time of the class changes. Attendance sometimes suffers.
- struggles when health issues cause irregular attendance of learners.
- requires teachers-in-training who are warm and friendly, flexible, and with a sense of humor; their

personality makes a big difference to attendance in the ESL classes.

Conclusion

The low-income seniors living at Rose Schnitzer Tower have goals and interests not typical of WIOA Title II funded programs generally focused on employability (Belzer & Kim, 2018) that "might feel pressure to enroll only learners whose goals align with WIOA core measures, leaving beginning-level learners and adults not in the workforce underserved" (Vaneck et al., 2020, p. 42). In addition, the learners' mobility limitations make it difficult to travel to locations where those programs are held while vision and hearing impairments require pedagogical adjustments that may be difficult to accommodate in larger programs. As a result, a local partnership can serve to meet the needs of these senior adult English learners.

The partnership has worked for more than 25 years because it changes to meet the needs of both adult English language learners and English teachers-in-training. It is supported by ongoing communication between the resident services coordinator in the building and the practicum supervisor at the university. Annual meetings at the end of each academic year serve as a review of what worked and what did not and where adjustments are made to ensure that the partnership continues to meet the needs of both partners.

References

- Bairamova, N., & Dixson, C. (2019a). Barriers to learning, part 1. 21st Century Learning Ecosystem Opportunities (21CLEO). EdTech Center at World Education. https://edtech.worlded. org/barriers-to-learning-part-1/
- Bairamova, N., & Dixson, C. (2019b). Barriers to learning, part 2. 21st Century Learning Ecosystem Opportunities (21CLEO). EdTech Center at World Education. https://edtech.worlded. org/barriers-to-learning-part-2/
- Belzer, A., & Kim, J. (2018). We are what we do: Adult basic education should be about more than employability. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *61*(6), 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.693
- Farrell, T. S. C. (2008). "Here's the book, go teach the class": ELT practicum support. *RELC Journal*, 39(2), 226–241. https://doi. org/10.1177/0033688208092186
- Gebhard, J. (2009). The practicum. In A. Burns & J. Richards (Eds.), *The Cambridge guide to second language teacher education* (pp. 250–258). Cambridge.
- Kacetl, J., & Klímová, B. (2021). Third-age learners and approaches to language teaching. *Education Sciences*, 11(7), 310. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11070310

- Kamhi-Stein, L. D., Jacob, S. R., Herrera, A., & Seaborne, R. (2020). Linking a community-based ESL program with the MA TESOL practicum course: The tale of a program. *CATESOL Journal*, 32(1), 160–171.
- Patterson, M. B. (2018). The forgotten 90%: Adult nonparticipation in education. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 68(1), 41–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713617731810
- Patterson, M. B., & Song, W. (2018). *Critiquing Adult Participation in Education, Report 1: Deterrents and Solutions*. ValueUSA. https://researchallies.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/ CAPE-Report-1-Deterrents-and-Solutions.pdf
- Uvin, J., Kallenback, S., Crowe, A., González, C., Singh, N., Vanek, J., & Ascher Webber, A. (2021). *The transformation of adult ESOL learning: A practice and policy brief*. EdTech Center at World Education. https://edtech.worlded.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/12/esol-policy-brief.pdf
- Vanek, J., Wrigley, H., Jacobson, E., & Isserlis, J. (2020). All together now: Supporting immigrants and refugees through collaboration. Adult Literacy Education: The International Journal Of Literacy, Language, And Numeracy, 2(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.35847/JVaneck.HWrigley.EJacobson. JIsserlis.2.1.41

Forum: The Power of Partnership

Conclusion of the Forum

David J. Rosen, Newsome Associates

There are many reasons why our field needs to expand the kinds of partnerships described here by Anne Pyzocha and Sylvia Boateng; Jacqueline Aguilera and Federico Salas-Isnardi; and by Kathy Harris; these kinds of partnerships can increase adults' awareness of the existence of adult (foundational) education classes in their communities; they can meet adult learners' needs that may not align well with the priorities of current public funding but, nevertheless, are important to adult learners, and can achieve worthwhile public goals such as increasing democracy participation skills, intergenerational literacy, technology literacy, reducing corrections recidivism, and reducing poverty. They are a way to expand the number of adults who receive adult (foundational) education services, to significantly increase services to the 48 million adults in the United States who need them. These partnerships can meet the needs of those who cannot take advantage of the services as currently offered because of where and when they are available, and how instruction is provided; and they can help adult (foundational) education providers do their jobs more effectively or provide better service for their clients.

Book Review

Review of Teaching and Learning about Family Literacy and Family Literacy Programs

Jennifer Martinez, Georgia State University

Co-authored by Jacqueline Lynch and Esther Prins, *Teaching and Learning about Family Literacy and Family Literacy Programs* is a small book that packs a big punch. It is the most recent addition to a growing collection of family literacy literature and synthesizes decades

of theoretical and programlevel research into an insightful analysis of the current family literacy landscape. An informative read for read for academics and practitioners, this book has something for everyone.

Though a slim volume at just over 200 pages, the book comprehensively addresses current knowledge in family literacy programming from both a scholarly and practical lens. It is composed of 14 chapters, divided into four thematic sections: foundations of family literacy, diversity in family literacy, family literacy in practice, and other focused topics. The chapters in each section attend to <section-header>

Section one provides a historic and theoretical overview of family literacy programming, as well as empirical research demonstrating the contribution of family literacy programming to literacy outcomes. Chapter 1 introduces the concept of *family literacy* and provides a brief history

ROUTLED O

of its development, definitions of key terms within family literacy literature, and the most common issues within the field. The chapters that follow describe social theories of literacy, literacy needs of children, and literacy needs of adults. Notably, in Chapter 4, Lynch and Prins construct an argument that they sustain throughout the rest of the book: that quality programming must offer not only parent-child literacy activities but also literacy skills for parents and parental support for a child's transition to school.

Section two addresses topics of diversity and contains chapters about race, ethnicity and culture,

both micro- and macro-level concerns of the field and pose recommendations at the family, program, research, and policy levels. From the beginning, the authors make clear that their analysis is positioned in a sociocultural perspective of literacy. They follow this thread throughout the book as they discuss the variety of ways that families and programs use literacies across the globe. and social class. Through a critical examination of relevant literature, the authors identify a need for family literacy programs to develop culturally responsive pedagogical practices that recognize racial, ethnic, and cultural identity, respect cultural variations in literacy practices, and oppose hegemonic practices that position middle class values as the standard. In Chapter 5, the authors

Lynch, J. & Prins, E. (2022). *Teaching and Learning about Family Literacy and Family Literacy Programs*. Routledge. 244 pages. \$48.95 paperback. ISBN: 978-0-367-37130-2

offer three conceptual tools that can help educators become aware of colonizing assumptions and behaviors: using cultural models, adopting a funds of knowledge framework, and instituting antiracist educational practices. Lynch and Prins encourage practitioners to analyze their own assumptions surrounding race and culture using suggested principles and strategies listed in Chapter 6.

Section three describes what family literacy looks like in practice. In Chapter 7, the authors outline typical program structures, conventional and unconventional program settings, and general program design features that may encourage success. Chapter 8 describes three exemplary family literacy programs in detail, focusing on their common characteristics: considering parental needs and interests, measuring learning outcomes, supplying free literacy resources, and maintaining long-term funding. Chapter 8 should be particularly interesting to anyone interested in researching or implementing interventions. Unfortunately, readers looking for international success stories will be disappointed; the exemplary programs are all located in North America.

The final section of the book is devoted to topics of concern in the field. One chapter examines father engagement in family literacy and family literacy programming while another chapter addresses the critical role played by other family members, such as grandparents and siblings, in emergent child literacy. In other chapters, the authors lead sensitive and nuanced discussions of current research on digital family literacies, and the problematical demands of program accountability. Finally, the book ends by outlining future directions for family literacy and family literacy programming. The topics of most concern to Lynch and Prins include the need to empirically examine the effects of recent social, economic, and political phenomena such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the Black Lives Matter movement on family literacy practices and programs.

This ambitious work will appeal to a broad range of interested audiences, including researchers and scholars, graduate students, and family literacy practitioners. Though it is certainly a large undertaking to address the needs of such diverse readers, Lynch and Prins manage to do so through careful organization. Not only is each section thematically structured, but every chapter is segmented into introduction, content, and conclusion, and includes a section for suggested activities, recommended further readings, as well as a References section. In particular, the Suggested Activities section includes several reflective questions that encourage readers to extrapolate research findings and theoretical initiatives to real-world contexts. Though researchers may not find these sections useful, their presence transforms the book into an ideal supplemental text for a graduate level literacy course. All in all, this book is an excellent resource for family literacy practitioners and others who are interested in understanding the many layers of this complex topic.

http://doi.org/10.35847/DFahrenkrug.6.1.46

Resource Review

Virginia Adult Learning Resource Center's Social and Emotional Learning for Adult Multilingual Learners Online Toolkit

Darlene Fahrenkrug, Arlington Education and Employment Program



https://valrc.org/resource/social-and-emotionallearning-for-adult-multilingual-learners-toolkit/

The Virginia Adult Learning Resource Center's (VALRC) Social and Emotional Learning for Adult Multilingual Learners toolkit is an online resource featuring evidencebased articles, relevant theory, and activities that can be drawn upon by individuals, professional learning communities (PLCs), and program administration serving adult English learners. The toolkit can be used as a selfpaced module for studying how social and emotional learning (SEL) can address the needs of adult immigrants and refugees who are learning English.

VALRC develops resources on topics critical to the field of adult education and offers statewide support and training in person and online covering topics such as digital literacy, foundations of reading, serving refugees, and so much more. VALRC's work brings together volunteers, teachers, and administrators to share evidence-based instructional practices and improve learner gains across levels. The SEL toolkit provides foundational knowledge on SEL concepts, models of effective strategies, and links to additional resources. The toolkit is clearly organized into five subsections that contain videos, article links, activities, and other resources:

- How to use this toolkit
- What is SEL?
- How does SEL connect with adult learning and multilingual learner instruction?
- SEL activities for adult multilingual learners
- SEL resources

Each of the five sections in the toolkit can be easily accessed through use of the sidebar, or users may engage with the material through a continuous path. The content is linked to source documents that provide additional articles and resources, making it helpful for those just starting to learn about this topic as well as for those who are looking for something more in-depth. Activities contained within the module such as Jamboards, Google Slides, and Google Forms are linked and easily adaptable for differentiation.

Each section reflects the application of current research

into SEL. The individual sections of the toolkit can stand alone or be used together. Each has a clear introduction, specific content with salient links, and a transition to the next section. The user interface is simple to navigate with a sidebar and progress check bar and includes places to engage with the material through reflection and opportunities to expand to subsections and to view additional activities.

Within the first section, there are suggestions for using the toolkit as individuals, PLCs, or at the program level. These helpful ideas provide an outline to support educators across program roles to learn about and reflect on integrating SEL. There is also a feedback form to ensure the toolkit remains a living document that can grow as needs are expressed.

The landing page for foundational SEL definitions and ideas is in the second section. There are two embedded videos to explain the core competencies and key settings as well as the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning framework, which then leads to a set of VALRC resources on trauma-informed care. After reviewing this section, participants will have a common set of definitions upon which to build.

The third section provides a clear context for connecting existing instructional strategies to SEL. This section discusses SEL connections for: creating a cooperative classroom environment, knowing learners, utilizing selfdirected learning, contextualizing instruction, leveraging learners' strengths and knowledge, and providing explicit instruction. For example, in the subsection labeled "Leverage Learners' Strengths and Knowledge," the connection to SEL is reflected when learners are invited to discuss their personal experiences, which the instructor can then draw upon to build authentic and relevant content for future lessons.

An instructor who is looking for SEL activities could quickly access many distinct ideas in the fourth section. There are two activities for emotional check-ins with several linked examples and instructions for teachers which provide a great starting point for someone new to SEL. There are also prompts for developing a growth mindset with additional resources, strategies for differentiation, and presentation. Some of these resources were initially developed for K-12 use but can readily be adapted for adult learners. Next, there are empathy task cards with three different instructional strategies: think/ pair/share, jigsaw, and warmups. Reflecting on these situations in discussion or writing would also strengthen navigating systems, higher critical thinking skills, and problem solving—three of the nine central skills in the toolkit. VALRC also concisely explains differentiation strategies, mindfulness activities, pre-teaching SEL activities, and excellent tools for creating or adapting graphic organizers. Teachers can bookmark this page for future use.

The final section of the toolkit includes a list of annotated links to articles and websites. The short descriptions make finding something relevant to one's teaching context straightforward. There are links to websites, articles, presentations, and tips for integrating SEL. The toolkit content is engaging and includes various formats to make viewing more interactive than reading a blog post or article. This valuable toolkit contains a range of activities that could be completed in just a few minutes or as the basis for an entire lesson. This resource would be helpful to a new or experienced volunteer, instructor, or administrator looking for SEL information, activities, or resources. Someone who is new to the subject might go through the five sections from beginning to end, while an experienced instructor might be ready to access the toolkit to incorporate SEL activities and resources into their next class.

Why is Morphological Knowledge and Instruction Important for Adult Education Learners?

Elizabeth L. Tighe and Gal Kaldes, Georgia State University

Acknowledgment: Support for this research digest was provided by a Language and Literacy seed grant (Georgia State University). The authors are currently developing a morphological and etymological intervention for adult education learners and a professional development for instructors.

Morphological knowledge refers to an individual's understanding of the structure and meaning of words based on their familiarity with morphemes (i.e., word parts, including prefixes, suffixes, and bases). This knowledge is crucial to developing various aspects of language and literacy to successfully function in 21st century education and workplace settings, including vocabulary, spelling, phonological awareness, word reading, and reading comprehension. This research digest provides a brief review on why morphological knowledge is important to literacy for adult education leaners. Next, we briefly describe the literature on adult morphological and etymological instruction and provide examples for how to integrate them in the classroom with adult education learners. We conclude with future directions and resources for research and educational practice.

Why is Morphological Knowledge Important to Literacy?

Recognized theoretical frameworks of literacy emphasize that awareness of morphemes and processing morphological information in text supports reading comprehension and other literacy skills, including word reading and vocabulary (Levesque et al., 2021; Perfetti & Stafura, 2014). Moreover, research with adult education learners has found that morphological knowledge is related to better word reading (Tighe et al., 2019), vocabulary (Fracasso et al., 2016), and reading comprehension skills (Tighe & Schatschneider, 2016a, b). Morphological knowledge can help adult education learners because morphemes enhance multiple reading skills (Kirby & Bowers, 2017). Below we list examples of how morphological knowledge can serve as a powerful strategy to enrich these skills:

Vocabulary: Students can use morphemes to break down and infer the meaning of unfamiliar words. For example, the word "unhelpful" contains a <un> prefix (i.e., opposite of), "help" base, and <ful> suffix (i.e., having characteristics of), which helps decipher the meaning (i.e., to be lacking in assistance or support). Students can extend their vocabulary knowledge by identifying word families, or groups of words with a common base. For example, knowing the base word "fort" can extend to other related words, such as "forts," "fortitude," and "fortify."

Phonological Awareness: Some words undergo phonological (i.e., sound) changes when adding a suffix to form a more complex word (e.g., "magic" to "magician"). Increasing learners' cognizance of prefixes, suffixes, and bases in both oral language and written words can help students recognize and manipulate sounds within words (e.g., "magic" has a /k/ phoneme that changes to a /ʃ/ phoneme in "magician").

Pronunciation: Recognition of morphological word boundaries (e.g., mis/hap) can help learners increase reading fluency with correct pronunciation and prosody (i.e., appropriate reading expression). For example, learners who encounter the word "mishap" would likely recognize the <mis> prefix, which helps them avoid reading the <sh> as a digraph (as in "shell"). **Spelling:** Consider the word "action" and the rationale behind why this word contains a <t> rather than the <sh> digraph to represent the /ʃ/ phoneme (Bowers & Bowers, 2018). Once the learner is prompted to break down the word "action" into its morphological components (act + ion), the reason for using <t> to represent /ʃ/ becomes transparent because <t> is part of the base word "act."

Reading Comprehension: Morphological knowledge enhances learners' ability to parse unfamiliar words, which improves vocabulary and word reading. This skill can free up additional cognitive resources (e.g., working memory) that are needed for processing longer sentences and paragraphs. Ultimately, comprehension is the goal of reading and morphological knowledge can support many aspects that feed into processing and understanding text.

As illustrated above, increasing learners' morphological knowledge can boost several reading-related skills, which makes instruction in morphological knowledge multifaceted with many different approaches and types of morphological content. We will next review the scant but existing literature on different types of morphological intervention studies conducted with adult education learners and the benefits of incorporating etymological with morphological instruction.

Morphological Instruction

A few intervention studies have used morphological instruction in settings with adult education learners. For example, Alamprese et al. (2011) observed improvement in adult foundational education students' decoding skills after teaching a reading class that incorporated elements of morphological instruction. Gray et al. (2018) reported overall gains in students' civics vocabulary after teaching etymology, morpheme, and syllable structure. Similarly, Durgunoglu et al. (2021) used morphological instruction with adult English as a Second Language learners and reported improvement in their vocabulary and comprehension.

Instructors of adult education learners can incorporate morphology into literacy instruction to target multiple literacy outcomes (see Resources below for more information). For example, Alamprese et al. (2011) developed an enhanced decoding curriculum for adult foundational education students with low to intermediate reading skills that incorporated morphology-focused activities. Many of the activities asked students to identify morphemes in words that were embedded in adult-centered reading materials. Many of the activities also focused on common spelling conventions, such as dropping the final, silent <e> when adding a suffix (e.g., live + ing \rightarrow living). Gray et al. (2018) used a semantic mapping organizer to help students analyze morphologically complex civics vocabulary. Specifically, the authors asked students to perform various steps, such as read aloud a target word and its definition (e.g., "alienable" means something that's transferable to another owner), write and read aloud the root of the target word (e.g., Latin alienus), write and read aloud a synonym for the target word (e.g., transferable), read aloud and write a word sum for the target word (e.g., alien + able \rightarrow alienable), read and write other words with the same base of the word (e.g., alienate), and segment the syllables in the word (e.g., a- li- en- a- ble).

One approach to literacy instruction that has not been deeply explored with adult education learners is the use of word matrices to analyze morphologically complex vocabulary words. A word matrix is a graphic organizer that arranges prefixes and suffixes around a common base (Bowers & Bowers, 2018; Bowers & Kirby, 2010). Students use the matrix to build words that share the same base (e.g., "act," "action," "inactive," "actionable"). Additionally, using word matrices considers multiple literacy skills that are required for reading successfully, including orthography, phonology, and semantics (Bowers & Bowers, 2018; Ng et al., 2022). More evidence with using matrices is needed for adult education learners; however, studies with children suggest that word matrices can be an effective tool to help target learning morphologically complex vocabulary (e.g., Devonshire et al., 2013; Freeman et al., 2014).

Incorporating Etymological with Morphological Instruction

Etymology (i.e., word origins or root words) is one of the primary dimensions of the English spelling system, along with morphology and phonology (Hegland, 2021; Venezky, 1999). Some recent intervention studies with adults who require support with literacy skills have begun to incorporate etymological with morphological instruction to increase their vocabulary and reading strategies (Gray, 2019; Gray et al., 2018; Trexler et al., 2023). For example, Gray (2019) conducted a pilot study that found that adults who were taught Greek and Latin roots outperformed adults who were only taught syllable types on a norm-referenced word reading test.

Morphology instruction can leverage etymology to help adult education learners in a variety of ways. First, etymology can facilitate understanding of the graphemes, or spelling patterns, that do not follow conventional spelling rules in English. For example, a student who struggles with spelling or reading words may wonder why "schemer," someone who plots or plans in a devious manner, is spelled with the <ch> instead of the <k> grapheme. Etymological examination of the word reveals that "schemer" is spelled with a <ch> because the base word is "scheme," which is derived from Greek. The digraph <ch> is a common Greek representation that corresponds to the phoneme /k/.

Second, incorporating etymology with morphological instruction can help students decipher the meanings of unfamiliar words. Students who examine the etymological origin of a word discover that the meaning of the root is oftentimes similar to its modern day use in English. As an example, the base of the word "mortician," a person who plans and arranges funerals, is spelled <mort> and comes from the Latin root mortuus, meaning "death." Students can use this information to draw connections to a family of words that have the same base spelling and share a common root (e.g., "mortality," "mortal," "immortal"). A few recent studies have used etymological with morphological instruction to enhance the academic vocabulary skills of developmental college students who require support with literacy skills and attend developmental reading classes (Hastings & Trexler, 2021; Trexler et al., 2023). In combination, these studies have found that the students demonstrated progress with using etymological strategies to read and unpack the meanings of unfamiliar words and also reported that they enjoyed using the strategies to learn more about unknown words.

Finally, teaching etymology can help adult education learners build their vocabulary knowledge even though not all words in modern day English retain the meaning of the root from which they evolved. Let us revisit our example of the Latin root *mortuus*. The word "mortify" (i.e., to feel shame or embarrassment) and the word "mortician" are from the same word family because they both come from Latin root mortuus and have the same base spelling <mort>. However, it is not obvious that these words are related because "mortician" is more closely related in meaning to the root *mortuus*, or death, than the word "mortify." Although the word "mortify" has evolved from the meaning of its root, having discussions with students about the relationship between "mortify" and its etymological origin can provide valuable context that encourages retention and understanding. For example, the hyperbole, "I was so embarrassed, I wanted to die!" may give students additional context for why "mortify" evolved from the root mortuus. Similarly, many words in modern day English have evolved in meaning due to the use of figurative language (e.g., metaphors or idioms). A few studies with adults who are English language learners have used an etymology strategy called "etymological elaboration," which encourages students to retain the meaning of idioms by drawing connections between the idioms to the linguistic origins of the words (Bagheri & Fazel, 2010; Soleimani & Azizmohammadi, 2015). These studies have found that teaching etymology helps adult English language learners remember the meanings of idioms.

Brief Summary and Where Do We Head Next?

In summary, increasing adult learners' morphological knowledge can positively influence a host of readingrelated skills, including phonological awareness, spelling, decoding, vocabulary, and ultimately reading comprehension. There have been limited but some interventions that include morphological components, including etymology, and these have been found to be effective for adult education learners (adult literacy students and developmental college students). There is a strong need for more studies, developed materials, and interventions to understand the effectiveness of morphological and etymological instruction with adult education learners. Many of the studies described above are initial pilot studies with small samples of adults who vary in reading skills, are short in duration, and include varying morphological and etymological approaches and content. Therefore, it is critical to further understand for whom, what types of approaches and content, and the intensity of instruction needed to be considered effective.

In addition, there is a strong need for enhancing professional development and providing resources and support for adult education instructors. A recent, informal poll at the 2023 Coalition on Adult Basic Education conference suggested that 80% of adult education instructors do not feel confident and/or do not have the tools needed to teach morphological knowledge (Tighe et al., 2023) This theme is also echoed in research with different educational professionals primarily in K-12 settings (e.g., Fumero & Wood, 2023), who report feeling only moderately confident in their abilities to apply their knowledge of morphological concepts. Thus, much more work is needed to help adult education instructors to feel confident and able to teach morphological and etymological strategies in class.

Resources

The resources below provide examples of how to integrate morphology and/or etymology into instruction to enhance adults' literacy skills.

1. Making Sense of Decoding and Spelling: An Adult Reading Course

https://lincs.ed.gov/publications/making_sense

Description: This curriculum is open access and was used in Alamprese et al. (2011) to investigate the effects of enhanced decoding instruction on word reading outcomes of beginning to intermediate adult readers. It contains exercises that teach common spelling conventions and breaking down words into their morphological parts (e.g., prefixes, bases, suffixes).

2. Morpho-Phonemic Analysis Boosts Word Reading for Adult Struggling Readers

https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11145-017-9774-9.pdf

Description: Gray et al. (2018) is open access and provides a description of how the authors conducted their morpho-phonemic intervention with a group of students in adult foundational education (see pp. 85-86). In particular, Figure 1 on page 86 provides a visual of the morpho-phonemic semantic mapping approach, which also integrates etymology.

3. Cultivating Possibilities Through Literacy

https://human.libretexts.org/Courses/Delaware_ County_Community_College/Cultivating_Possibilities_ through_Literacy

Description: This guidebook is open access and was used in Trexler et al. (2023) to teach reading strategies to college students enrolled in developmental reading classes. Students unpack vocabulary in texts by learning about the dimensions of English orthography (morphology, phonology, etymology). Students also learn to use metacognitive strategies to reflect on their comprehension of the texts.

4. Word Matrix Resources

a. Beyond Phonics: The Case for Teaching Children the Logic of the English Spelling System

https://cpb-eu-w2.wpmucdn.com/blogs.bristol. ac.uk/dist/b/403/files/2017/10/Beyond-Phonics-The-Case-for-Teaching-Children-the-Logic-of-the-English-Spelling-System.pdf

Description: This open access paper provides examples of word matrices and word sums (see pp. 128-131). Table 2 on page 129 provides definitions of linguistic terms, including the difference between a morpheme and a root (i.e., the etymology or origin of a word). These concepts are important to distinguish in order to integrate morphological with etymological instruction.

b. Building a Matrix from Word Sums

https://youtu.be/cL5-IH3KVII?si=gxDCbjyktWPBqSQV

Description: This video shows a worked example for how to build a word matrix. Instructors can use this tool to help students build word families with other words that are connected in structure and meaning.

References

- Alamprese, J. A., MacArthur, C. A., Price, C., & Knight, D. (2011). Effects of a structured decoding curriculum on adult literacy learners' reading development. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *4*(2), 154–172. https://doi/org/10.1080 /19345747.2011.555294
- Bagheri, M. S., & Fazel, I. (2010). Effects of etymological elaboration on the EFL learners' comprehension and retention of idioms. *Journal* of Pan-Pacific Association of Applied Linguistics, 14(1), 45-55.
- Bowers, J. S., & Bowers, P. N. (2018). Progress in reading instruction requires a better understanding of the English spelling system. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *27*(6), 407-412. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418773749
- Bowers, P. N., & Kirby, J. R. (2010). Effects of morphological instruction on vocabulary acquisition. *Reading and Writing*, 23(5), 515–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-009-9172-z
- Devonshire, V., Morris, P., & Fluck, M. (2013). Spelling and reading development: The effect ofteaching children multiple levels of representation in their orthography. *Learning & Instruction*, *25*, 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2012.11.007
- Durgunoglu, A. Y., Sagar, A., Fagan, K. E., & Bruek, A. (2021). Improving the comprehension and vocabulary skills of English language learners with content integrated language instruction for adults. *Adult Literacy Education*, 3(1), 34-48.
- Fracasso, L. E., Bangs, K., & Binder, K. S. (2016). The contributions of phonological and morphological awareness to literacy skills in the adult basic education population. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *4*9(2), 140–151. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022219414538513
- Freeman, N. D., Townsend, D., & Templeton, S. (2018). Thinking about words: First graders' response to morphological instruction. *The Reading Teacher*, *72*(4), 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1749
- Fumero, K., & Wood, C. (2023). Morphological knowledge and selfefficacy of SLPs and educators. *Communication Disorders Quarterly, 45*(1), 53-63. https://doi.org/10.1177/15257401221122677
- Gray, S. H. (2019). Linking root words and derived forms for adult struggling readers: A pilot study. *Adult Literacy Education, 1,* 19-36.
- Gray, S. H., Ehri, L. C., & Locke, J. L. (2018). Morpho-phonemic analysis boosts word reading for adult struggling readers. *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 31*(1), 75–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-017-9774-9
- Hastings, K., & Trexler, M. (2021). Structured word inquiry: A critical literacy framework for educators. *Interchange: A Quarterly Review of Education, 52,* 273-296. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10780-021-09430-8
- Hegland, S. S. (2021). Beneath the surface of words: What English spelling reveals and why it matters. Kendore Learning.

- Kirby, J. R., & Bowers, P. N. (2017). Morphological instruction and literacy: Binding phonological, orthographic, and semantic features of words. In K. Cain, D. L. Compton, & R. K. Parrila, (Eds.), *Theories of reading development* (pp. 437-462). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Levesque, K. C., Breadmore, H. L., & Deacon, S. H. (2021). How morphology impacts reading and spelling: Advancing the role of morphology in models of literacy development. *Journal of Research in Reading, 44*(1), 10-26. https://doi. org/10.1111/1467-9817.12313
- McCutchen, D., Stull, S., Herrera, B.L., Lotas, S., & Evans, S. (2014). Putting words to work: Effects of morphological instruction on children's writing. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *47*(1), 86-97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219413509969
- Perfetti, C., & Stafura, J. (2014). Word knowledge in a theory of reading comprehension. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *18*(1), 22–37. http://doi.org/10.1080/10888438.2013.827687
- Soleimani, F., & Azizmohammadi, F. (2015). The effect of etymology of an additional language on Iranian EFL learners' vocabulary retention. *Indian Journal of Fundamental and Applied Life Sciences*, *5*(S2), 1449-1458. http://www.cibtech.org/sp.ed/ jls/2015/02/jls.htm
- Tighe, E. L., & Fernandes, M. A. (2019). Unraveling the complexity of the relations of metalinguistic skills to word reading with struggling adult readers: Shared, independent, and interactive effects. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 40(3), 765–793. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0142716419000018
- Tighe, E. L., Kaldes, G., Sun, C. D., McCool, S., & Rozier, D. (2023). *Morphological instructionand assessments for adult literacy learners*. Symposia presented at the annual Coalition on Adult Basic Education Conference in Atlanta, Georgia.
- Tighe, E. L., & Schatschneider, C. (2016a). A quantile regression approach to understanding the relations between morphological awareness, vocabulary, and reading comprehension in adult basic education students. *Journal of Learning Disabilities, 49*(4), 424-436. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219414556771
- Tighe, E. L., & Schatschneider, C. (2016b). Examining the relationships of component reading skills to reading comprehension in struggling adult readers: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Learning Disabilities, 49*(4), 395-409. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022219414555415
- Trexler, M., Hastings, K., & Tighe, E. L. (2023). Increasing the literacy abilities of developmental college students through integrated orthographic instruction. *Journal of College Literacy and Learning*, 48, 33-56.
- Venezky, R. L. (1999). The American way of spelling: The structure and origins of American English orthography. Guilford Press.

Technology and Adult Learning

Improving Reading Skills for Adult Learners with Dyslexia in Incarcerated Settings with The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program

Sarah Cacicio, Adult Literacy & Learning Impact Network

Dyslexia affects 20% of the U.S. population (Shaywitz et al., 2021). Research shows that the vast majority of students who are diagnosed with learning disabilities in school are, in fact, dyslexic. Still, many students with dyslexia are not adequately identified, assessed, or supported with research-based interventions. Despite having average or even above-average intelligence, growing up with dyslexia can negatively impact an individual's self-esteem, behavior, academic performance, and overall mental health (Cassidy et al., 2021; Wilmot et al., 2022). Adults with dyslexia report struggling with reading difficulties from as early as kindergarten which impacts their learning experiences over the life span. Providing evidence-based instruction alongside supplementary digitally-mediated reading tools such as The Noah Text[®]-New Century program described here is critical for improving learning engagement and outcomes among adult learners with dyslexia, especially for the disproportionate number of learners with reading difficulties in incarcerated settings.

In a groundbreaking study among adult learners in prison, Cassidy et al. (2021) applied the federal definition of dyslexia, which recognizes a person's intelligence as distinct from their difficulty with reading, to identify and intervene with inmates who experience dyslexia. The study reports findings on reading and IQ scores among 145 individually-tested incarcerated men and women in two maximum-security prisons in Louisiana. It indicated that almost half (47%) could be classified as having dyslexia, with 36% determined proficient readers and 17% determined to have cognitive impairment. Equally important as these indicators was the self-reported data the adult learners involved in the study provided about their prior educational experiences, shedding light on the rarely discussed trauma of schooling for learners who struggle with reading. Over half of the participants reported that they had been expelled from school, with significant majorities of 61% and 84% who had failed or repeated a grade and dropped out of school, respectively (Cassidy et al., 2021). This study makes clear the need to integrate reading strategies and supports that are specifically designed for adult learners with dyslexia.

The high prevalence of dyslexia among adult learners in prison has been attributed to inadequate education access, reduced language use in family life, and quitting school before completion because of academic and behavioral issues (Cassidy et al., 2021). Significant efforts are now underway to improve methods for diagnosing and treating dyslexia, including at the federal level. For example, in 2018, the First Step Act (FSA) was the first major criminal justice reform to recognize the need to identify and support adult learners with dyslexia as part of a broader effort to reduce recidivism by improving access to evidence-based educational and rehabilitative programming for justice-impacted individuals.

Dyslexia at its core is a difficulty with word reading (Sabatini, 2022). The primary cause of dyslexia is now linked to variations in functioning in the areas of the brain that deal with language processing, speed, short-term memory, auditory or visual perceptions, speaking, and related motor skills (Ahire et al., 2022). With a deeper understanding of what dyslexia is and how it impacts the whole learner, researchers, educators, and technology developers are now working together to improve reading outcomes for this significant population of adult learners. Technology is not only changing the way we understand and identify dyslexia, but how we design targeted interventions to specifically support learners with dyslexia. Assistive technology, such as text-to-speech software, has been shown to improve comprehension. Preliminary studies reveal that the wordlevel scaffolding found in Noah Text[®] has been shown to build confidence, fluency, comprehension, and orthographic mapping for adults with dyslexia in incarcerated settings (Michigan State University in conjunction with New Century Education Foundation, 2021b).

What is Noah Text[®]?

Based on the science of reading, Noah Text[®] is a patentpending method for adapting text to improve reading fluidity for learners with dyslexia. It was developed by researcher Sarah K. Blodgett, whose son struggled with reading. Noah Text[®] aims to improve text accessibility at the word level, building critical writing-sound pattern awareness. The tool provides visual cues to make clear the connections between written language and sound in a given text. Noah Text[®] provides visual scaffolding at the word level that allows readers to see the sound parts within a word in order to improve decoding and enunciating skills. It does so by highlighting syllables and long vowels to ease reading fluency while keeping the words fully intact. It guides the reader toward predictable patterns in English, which is a largely unpredictable language given the pervasive differences between spelling and speaking. As any reading or English teacher can attest, English is not always phonetic, making it difficult even for native speakers to learn to read and write. Consider the words "though" or "receive." Noah Text® recognizes language patterns to facilitate reading, and over time, the patterns become more intuitive. Noah Text® appears to remove the typical stumbling blocks that struggling readers most often encounter with multisyllabic and/or difficult-to-pronounce words.

Opportunities to Support Reading Fluency for Adults with Dyslexia Using Noah Text[®]

Reading with Noah Text[®] is said to be intuitive for learners with dyslexia. Adult educators in and outside of correctional education settings can test the effectiveness of this tool with adult learners who struggle with reading, especially those who experience dyslexia. To generate a reading passage in Noah Text[®], educators can convert plain digital text into Noah Text[®] using the free online StrongReader[™] Builder conversion tool via https://noahtext.com/. The tool adapts the text into Noah Text[®], creating a more readable version that enables learners to see critical orthographic



For adult learners with dyslexia, there are multiple factors that impact their reading and learning experiences. Adult educators can use Noah Text[®] as a conversation starter to better understand the experiences and perceptions of adult learners with dyslexia and support the whole learner.

Figure 1

sound patterns (rimes, syllables, long vowels) to help facilitate the mapping of letter to sound. This word-level scaffold is particularly helpful for learners with dyslexia. To support reading fluency and comprehension for learners with dyslexia, educators might provide a digital or printed version for learners in Noah Text[®].

Imagine that you are working on a science or healthrelated unit with adult learners and want to read and discuss an article about long COVID. Consider the example above. At the top of Figure 1, you can see the topic sentence from an article about long COVID in plain text, "Scientists have uncovered a possible explanation for one of COVID-19's most vexing legacies: the stubborn neurological symptoms of long COVID, such as brain fog, memory loss and fatigue" The text was copied and pasted into the conversion tool to generate the same sentence in Noah Text[®]. Theoretically, reading this format can aid visual processing and remove stumbling blocks that learners with dyslexia often encounter when reading.

Preliminary Research Using The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program with Adults in Incarcerated Settings

Since Noah Text® launched in 2016, the technology tool has been continually studied through a collaboration with New Century Education Foundation, a nonprofit that designs, develops, and distributes educational software products for students with special needs, and researchers at Michigan State University. As part of this work, the team developed a set of lessons that use Noah Text®, the word-level scaffolding, throughout the curriculum, a chapter-book based online reading instructional product designed to support essential skills and strategies in word identification (syllabication, segmenting, blending, orthography), morphology, vocabulary, comprehension, and written response to literature. The content used in New Century's lessons comes from young adult books that were also developed by Sarah K. Blodgett and published in Noah Text®. Several pilot studies have been conducted on the effects of The Noah Text[®]-New Century program on learner reading gains by researchers at Michigan State University in partnership with New Century Education Foundation, including reading gains among adult learners with dyslexia who are experiencing incarceration.

The team found significant gains in reading fluency, comprehension, and vocabulary from a pilot study of 14 male adult learners in a Louisiana prison. In 2 months, all 14 of the adult learners (11 designated as having reading disabilities and three identified as English language learners) demonstrated gains in oral reading proficiency in plain text. Vocabulary scores were shown to improve by a mean of 13% from pre- and post- tests also in plain text. Finally, adult learners achieved an average of an 11-point gain on the TABE Language and Reading Test in plain text. According to Blodget et al. (n.d.), the word-level scaffolding found in Noah Text[®] builds confidence, fluency, comprehension, and orthographic mapping through application and transfer. Researchers noted that some students who were part of the Noah Text[®]-New Century program pilot project were even qualified to take and pass their high school equivalency exam in English (Michigan State University in conjunction with New Century Education Foundation, 2021a).

The research team at Michigan State University make clear that this digitally-mediated reading intervention has shown to be most effective among adult readers who start between a third and seventh grade reading level (with scores of 480-550 on the TABE Reading subtest). Among adult learners within that range, results have consistently shown reading improvements, including increased confidence in reading proficiency. Preliminary research also revealed increases in stamina and confidence while building overall reading skills that has been shown to transfer to plain text reading that is not in Noah Text[®] (Michigan State University in conjunction with New Century Education Foundation, 2021a). The transfer to plain text reading is among the most significant findings, though the mechanisms for those gains are still being studied. The research team continues to explore pilot studies to examine the effects of The Noah Text®-New Century Program intervention on more adult learners in incarcerated settings, including women.

Limitations to The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program

While initial results on the effectiveness of The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program for adult learners with dyslexia are promising, findings may not be generalizable to all adult learners, especially learners with emerging reading skills. Another limitation is the dearth of reading material available in Noah Text[®]. At this point, there are several novels available through The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program, but there are limited non-fiction materials across subject areas and literary genres. It is important to note that this program is designed to be a supplementary intervention, rather than a full reading curriculum for learners with dyslexia. Educators still need to make decisions about when and how to integrate the digitally mediated reading intervention with adults who have dyslexia. Finally, the New Century-Noah Text® model is not computer-adaptive. All adult learners move through the same program without the ability to increase or decrease reading difficulty. One area worth exploring would be the integration of this program with other reading programs or technologies designed to measure reading comprehension, such as eye-tracking tools (Meziere et al., 2023).

Conclusion

According to data from the U.S. Department of Justice (n.d.), more than 10,000 individuals are released from state and federal prisons *every week* across communities

in the United States, and approximately two-thirds of returning citizens are rearrested within 3 years. This cycle of crime negatively affects the individuals involved, their families, and their broader communities (Steurer, 2020). Studies repeatedly show that participating in educational programs while incarcerated reduces recidivism, indirectly resulting in reductions in crime, taxpayer savings, and positive multi-generational impact for families (Steuer, 2020). Beyond statistics, engagement with prison education has also been shown to improve the overall well-being of individuals in incarcerated settings, leading to increased self-perceptions, academic resilience, and personal development (Baranger et al. 2018). Leveraging digital tools, such as The Noah Text[®]-New Century Program, has the potential to enhance multiple areas of reading, and even more importantly for adult learners with dyslexia in incarcerated settings, build reading confidence, self-esteem, and increased motivation for lifelong learning. In corrections, access to consistent, high quality literacy support remains a challenge, despite the well-documented benefits to individuals and communities. Using technology can increase participation in literacy-skill building activities for adult learners in incarcerated settings and broaden the impact of educational and rehabilitative programming.

References

- Ahire, N., Awale, R. N., Patnaik, S., & Wagh, A. (2023). A comprehensive review of machine learning approaches for dyslexia diagnosis. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 82(9), 13557-13577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-022-13939-0
- Baranger, J., Rousseau, D., Mastrorilli, M. E., & Matesanz, J. (2018). Doing time wisely: The social and personal benefits of higher education in prison. *The Prison Journal*, *98*(4), 490-513. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032885518776380
- Blodgett, Sarah K., Cherkes-Julkowski, Miriam., Bigney, L, Griffin, J., Mariage, T, Clemente, I., Hicks, E., (n.d.). *Word-level* scaffolding found in Noah Text builds confidence, fluency, comprehension, and orthographic mapping through application and transfer. Noahtext. https://noahtext.com/ wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Noah-Text-Venn-Diagram-1.pdf
- Cassidy, L., Reggio, K., Shaywitz, B.A., Holahan, J.M., & Shaywitz, Sally E. (2021). Dyslexia in incarcerated men and women. *Correctional Education Association*, 72(2): 61-81. https:// www.jstor.org/stable/48718287
- Mézière, D. C., Yu, L., Reichle, E. D., Von Der Malsburg, T., & McArthur, G. (2023). Using eye-tracking measures to predict reading comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *58*(3), 425-449. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.498
- Michigan State University in conjunction with New Century Education Foundation. (2021a). *Noah Text in action: Results of pilot study*. [PowerPoint Slides]. Noahtext. https:// noahtext.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Noah-Text-RITES-Study-for-Website-2022-1.pdf

- Michigan State University in conjunction with New Century Education Foundation. (2021b). *Noah Text in action: results of pilot study of incarcerated men with reading disabilities*. [PowerPoint Slides]. Noahtext. https://noahtext.com/wpcontent/uploads/2022/11/Noah-Text-Louisiana-Prison-Studyfor-Website-2022.pdf
- Shaywitz, S. E., Shaywitz, J. E., & Shaywitz, B. A. (2021). Dyslexia in the 21st century. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 34(2), 80-86. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/YCO.000000000000670
- United States Department of Justice. (n.d.). *Prisoner and prisoner re-entry*. https://www.justice.gov/archive/fbci/ progmenu_reentry.html
- Sabatini, J. (2022). Dyslexia and other reading difficulties in adults: Where are we now and where are we headed?. *Adult Literacy Education*, *4*(2), 70-75.
- Wilmot, A., Pizzey, H., Leitao, S., Hasking, P., & Boyes, M. (2023). Growing up with dyslexia: Child and parent perspectives on school struggles, self-esteem, and mental health. *Dyslexia*, 29(1), 40–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1729